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Framework Schedule 6 (Order Form Template and 

Call-Off Schedules) 

 

Order Form  
 

CALL-OFF REFERENCE:  prj_14268 

 

THE BUYER:   Ministry of Justice 

  

BUYER ADDRESS   102 Petty France, London, SW1H 9AJ 

 

THE SUPPLIER:    Russell Reynolds Associates Limited 

SUPPLIER ADDRESS:  Almack House, 28 King Street, London, SW1Y 
6QW 

REGISTRATION NUMBER:  03258089   

DUNS NUMBER:         543135206 

SID4GOV ID:                   Not known. 

 

APPLICABLE FRAMEWORK CONTRACT 

 

This Order Form is for the provision of the Call-Off Deliverables and dated 3rd March 

2025.  

It’s issued under the Framework Contract with the reference number RM6290 for the 

provision of Executive & Non-Executive Recruitment Services.    

 

CALL-OFF LOT(S): 

 

Lot Number 1 – Executive Search - Grade 6, SCS1 & SCS2 (and equivalents) 
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CALL-OFF INCORPORATED TERMS 

The following documents are incorporated into this Call-Off Contract. Where 

numbers are missing we are not using those schedules. If the documents conflict, 

the following order of precedence applies: 

1. This Order Form. 

2. Joint Schedule 1(Definitions and Interpretation) RM6290 

3. The following Schedules in equal order of precedence: 

 

● Joint Schedules for RM6290 

o Joint Schedule 1 Definitions 

o Joint Schedule 2 (Variation Form)  

o Joint Schedule 3 (Insurance Requirements) 

o Joint Schedule 4 (Commercially Sensitive Information) 

o Joint Schedule 5 Corporate Responsibility 

o Joint Schedule 6 (Key Subcontractors) 

o Joint Schedule 7 (Financial Difficulties) 

o Joint Schedule 10 (Rectification Plan)     

o Joint Schedule 11 (Processing Data)  

 

● Call-Off Schedules for RM6290    

o Call-Off Schedule 1 (Transparency Reports) 

o Call-Off Schedule 2 (Staff Transfer) 

o Call-Off Schedule 7 (Key Supplier Staff) 

o Call-Off Schedule 8 (Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery) 

o Call-Off Schedule 9 (Security)  

o Call-Off Schedule 16 (Benchmarking) 

o Call-Off Schedule 18 (Background Checks) 

 

No other Supplier terms are part of the Call-Off Contract. That includes any terms 

written on the back of, added to this Order Form, or presented at the time of delivery.  

 

CALL-OFF SPECIAL TERMS  

None 

 

CALL-OFF START DATE:   3rd March 2025 

 

CALL-OFF EXPIRY DATE:   2nd March 2026 

 

CALL-OFF INITIAL PERIOD:  Twelve Months  

 

CALL-OFF DELIVERABLES  

 

Requirement:  

At the Ministry of Justice, we are on a mission to transform services through the 

better use of technology. The role of Group Chief Technology Officer will play a 
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critical role in helping us achieve this vision by driving digital transformation across 

both our public-facing and colleague-facing services. 

 

The Group Chief Technology Officer will be responsible for leading the technology 

strategy for the Ministry of Justice, the largest department in Whitehall, which has a 

budget of approximately £13bn annually and employs over 90,000 staff. The Group 

CTO will lead a team of over 1,000 staff and be responsible for a budget of £300m+. 

 

The Authority requires Russell Reynolds Associates to provide expert services to 

manage a recruitment campaign to secure the right candidate for this role (to be in 

post as soon as possible). Despite support from other recruitment agencies and 

higher starting pay, there have been a number of failed recruitments for this role, and 

it is now vital that we secure a good result and a strong candidate. 

 

Key Milestones: 

1. Devise and place an appropriate advertising campaign for the role, ensuring 

the campaign attracts high-calibre candidates with proven leadership skills in the 

technology space. 

2. Proactively review potential and actual applicants and provide a shortlist of 

candidates for approval by the Authority. 

3. Manage, support, and attend the interviews and recruitment process, through 

to the successful appointment and acceptance of the chosen candidate. 

Russell Reynolds Associates will have to work closely with the SCS Recruitment 

team to ensure full compliance with Civil Service Recruitment Principles during the 

recruitment campaign. 

 

Salary: The salary for this role is set within the MoJ SCS PB2 range. 

• External candidates should expect their salary upon appointment to be up to 

£REDACTED per annum. 

• Existing Civil Servants will be appointed in line with the Civil Service pay rules 

in place on the date of their appointment. 

• Any requests for a higher starting salary will be considered by the vacancy 

manager. 

 

MAXIMUM LIABILITY  

The limitation of liability for this Call-Off Contract is stated in Clause 11.2 of the Core 

Terms. 

 

The Estimated Year 1 Charges used to calculate liability in the first Contract Year is 

£55,500.00 excluding VAT. 

 

CALL-OFF CHARGES 

 

The Supplier shall receive payment in three (3) stages within the search process with  

a percentage of the total fixed fee (£55,500.00 excluding VAT) being charged at 

each successful stage. 
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Payment stages as follows: 

● 25% Placement of advert (£13,875.00 ex VAT) 

● 25% Shortlist signed off by Buyer (i.e. Buyer has signed off candidates for final  

stage of recruitment) (£13,875.00 ex VAT) 

● 50% Appointment and acceptance of candidate (£27,750.00 ex VAT) 

 

The Supplier shall note that in the event: 

● that the Buyer cancels the recruitment requirement, the Buyer will be  

responsible for the payment of the fee up to the point in the process at which  

the recruitment has been cancelled. 

● that the Supplier cancels the recruitment at any point after the placement of  

advert, the Buyer will make only the first 25% payment; and 

● of the appointed candidate leaving the position for any reason within 6 months  

of the appointment contract start date, the Supplier shall refund 50% of the total  

fee or provide a free of charge replacement search (the latter subject to the  

Buyer’s sole discretion). 

 

The Supplier shall not undertake proactive headhunting of appointed candidates that  

they have previously sourced for a Buyer, through this Framework agreement, on  

behalf of Framework or non-Framework Buyers, for a minimum period of twelve (12)  

months after the candidate placement date. 

 

The Supplier shall note that the same fees apply for any inward secondments or 

fixed term positions of less than a year. Buyers will be charged at a pro-rata rate of a 

twelve (12) month salary. 

 

The Supplier shall note that there will be no additional fee charged if the Buyer 

wishes to employ a fixed term candidate supplied under the Framework Agreement, 

on a permanent basis. 

 

REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES 

Additional expenses, for example advertising costs, will be charged at direct cost. 

These will only be incurred with prior written agreement from the Buyer. For the 

purposes of this call-off agreement advertising costs are estimated at: £1,250 (excl. 

VAT). Maximum expenses value £1,250 ex VAT. 

 

PAYMENT METHOD 

BACS 

 

BUYER’S INVOICE ADDRESS:  

SSCL – Ministry of Justice 

PO Box 743, Newport, Gwent, NP10 8FZ 

APinvoices-MOJ-U@sscl.gov.uk  

 

BUYER’S AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVE 

mailto:APinvoices-MOJ-U@sscl.gov.uk
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REDACTED   

SCS Resourcing Manager 

REDACTED  

10 South Colonnade, Canary Wharf, London (E & EC), E14 4PU  

 

BUYER’S ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY 

Available online at: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65116b8d2f404b000dc3d842/sustain

able-procurement-policy.pdf  

 

BUYER’S SECURITY POLICY 

Available online at: https://security-guidance.service.justice.gov.uk/information-

security-policy/#information-security-policy   

 

SUPPLIER’S AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVE 

REDACTED  

REDACTED  

E-mail: REDACTED        

Address: Almack House, 28 King Street, London, SW1Y 6QW 

 

REDACTED  

REDACTED   

E-mail: REDACTED                  

Address: Almack House, 28 King Street, London, SW1Y 6QW 

 

SUPPLIER’S CONTRACT MANAGER 

REDACTED  

REDACTED  

E-mail: REDACTED                  

Address: Almack House, 28 King Street, London, SW1Y 6QW 

 

PROGRESS REPORT FREQUENCY 

On the first Working Day of each calendar month] 

 

PROGRESS MEETING FREQUENCY 

Quarterly on the first Working Day of each quarter] 

 

KEY STAFF 

None 

 

KEY SUBCONTRACTOR(S) 

None 

 

COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE INFORMATION 

Not applicable  

 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65116b8d2f404b000dc3d842/sustainable-procurement-policy.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65116b8d2f404b000dc3d842/sustainable-procurement-policy.pdf
https://security-guidance.service.justice.gov.uk/information-security-policy/#information-security-policy
https://security-guidance.service.justice.gov.uk/information-security-policy/#information-security-policy
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SERVICE CREDITS 

Not applicable 

 

ADDITIONAL INSURANCES 

Not applicable 

 
GUARANTEE 
Not applicable 

 

SOCIAL VALUE COMMITMENT 
Not applicable 
 

For and on behalf of the Supplier: For and on behalf of the Buyer: 

Signature: REDACTED Signature: REDACTED 

Name: REDACTED Name: REDACTED 

Role: REDACTED Role: REDACTED 

Date: REDACTED Date: REDACTED 
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Joint Schedule 7 (Financial Difficulties) 
 

1. Definitions 

1.1 In this Schedule, the following definitions shall apply: 

 

“Appli
cable 
Finan
cial 
Indic
ators
” 

means the financial indicators from Paragraph 5.1 of 
this Schedule which are to apply to the Monitored 
Suppliers as set out in Paragraph 5.2 of this 
Schedule; 

“Board” means the Supplier’s board of directors; 

“Board Confirmation” means written confirmation from the Board in 
accordance with Paragraph 8 of this Schedule; 

“Bronze Contract” A Call-Off Contract categorised as a Bronze contract 
using the Cabinet Office Contract Tiering Tool; 

“Cabinet Office 
Markets and 
Suppliers Team” 

means the UK Government’s team responsible for 
managing the relationship between government and 
its Strategic Suppliers, or any replacement or 
successor body carrying out the same function; 

“Credit Rating 
Threshold” 

the minimum credit rating level for each entity in the 
FDE Group as set out in Annex 1 to this Schedule; 

“FDE Group” means the Supplier 

“Financial Distress 
Event” 

Any of the events listed in Paragraph 3.1 of this 
Schedule; 

“Financial Distress 
Remediation Plan” 

a plan setting out how the Supplier will ensure the 
continued performance and delivery of the 
Deliverables in accordance with the Contract in the 
event that a Financial Distress Event occurs; 

“Financial Indicators” in respect of the Supplier, Key Sub-contractors and 
the Guarantor, means each of the financial indicators 
set out at paragraph 5.1 of this Schedule and in 
respect of each Monitored Supplier, means those 
Applicable Financial Indicators; 
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“Financial Target 
Thresholds” 

means the target thresholds for each of the Financial 
Indicators set out at paragraph 5.1 of this Schedule; 

“Monitored 
Suppliers” 

means those entities specified at paragraph 5.2 of 
this Schedule; 

“Rating Agencies” The rating agencies listed in Annex 1 of this 
Schedule; 

“Strategic Supplier” means those suppliers to government listed at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strategi
c-suppliers. 

2. Warranties and duty to notify 

2.1 The Supplier warrants and represents to the Relevant Authority for the benefit 
of the Relevant Authority that as at the Effective Date: 

2.1.1 the long term credit ratings issued for each entity in the FDE 
Group by each of the Rating Agencies are as set out in Annex 
2 to this Schedule; and 

2.1.2 the financial position or, as appropriate, the financial 
performance of each of the Supplier, Guarantor and Key Sub-
contractors satisfies the Financial Target Thresholds. 

2.2 The Supplier shall promptly notify (or shall procure that its auditors promptly notify) 
the Relevant Authority in writing if there is any downgrade in the credit rating issued 
by any Rating Agency for any entity in the FDE Group (and in any event within 5 
Working Days of the occurrence of the downgrade). 

2.3 The Supplier shall: 

2.3.1 regularly monitor the credit ratings of each entity in the FDE 
Group with the Rating Agencies; 

2.3.2 monitor and report on the Financial Indicators for each entity in 
the FDE Group against the Financial Target Thresholds at least 
at the frequency set out for each at Paragraph 5.1 (where 
specified) and in any event, on a regular basis and no less than 
once a year within ninety (90) days after the Accounting 
Reference Date; and 

2.3.3 promptly notify (or shall procure that its auditors promptly 
notify) the Relevant Authority in writing following the 
occurrence of a Financial Distress Event or any fact, 
circumstance or matter which could cause a Financial Distress 
Event (and in any event, ensure that such notification is made 
within 10 Working Days of the date on which the Supplier first 
becomes aware of the Financial Distress Event or the fact, 
circumstance or matter which could cause a Financial Distress 
Event). 

2.4 For the purposes of determining whether a Financial Distress Event has occurred 
pursuant to the provisions of Paragraphs 3.1, and for the purposes of determining 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strategic-suppliers
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strategic-suppliers
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relief under Paragraph 7.1, the credit rating of an FDE Group entity shall be 
deemed to have dropped below the applicable Credit Rating Threshold if any of 
the Rating Agencies have rated that entity at or below the applicable Credit Rating 
Threshold. 

2.5 Each report submitted by the Supplier pursuant to paragraph 2.3.2 shall: 

2.5.1 be a single report with separate sections for each of the FDE 
Group entities; 

2.5.2 contain a sufficient level of information to enable the Relevant 
Authority to verify the calculations that have been made in 
respect of the Financial Indicators; 

2.5.3 include key financial and other supporting information 
(including any accounts data that has been relied on) as 
separate annexes; 

2.5.4 be based on the audited accounts for the date or period on 
which the Financial Indicator is based or, where the Financial 
Indicator is not linked to an accounting period or an accounting 
reference date, on unaudited management accounts prepared 
in accordance with their normal timetable; and 

2.5.5 include a history of the Financial Indicators reported by the 
Supplier in graph form to enable the Relevant Authority to 
easily analyse and assess the trends in financial performance. 

3. Financial Distress events 

3.1 The following shall be Financial Distress Events: 

3.1.1 the credit rating of an FDE Group entity dropping below the 
applicable Credit Rating Threshold; 

3.1.2 an FDE Group entity issuing a profits warning to a stock 
exchange or making any other public announcement, in each 
case about a material deterioration in its financial position or 
prospects; 

3.1.3 there being a public investigation into improper financial 
accounting and reporting, suspected fraud or any other 
impropriety of an FDE Group entity; 

3.1.4 an FDE Group entity committing a material breach of covenant 
to its lenders; 

3.1.5 a Key Sub-contractor notifying CCS or the Buyer that the 
Supplier has not satisfied any material sums properly due 
under a specified invoice and not subject to a genuine dispute; 

3.1.6 any of the following: 

(a) commencement of any litigation against an FDE 
Group entity with respect to financial indebtedness 
greater than £5m or obligations under a service 
contract with a total contract value greater than £5m;  
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(b) non-payment by an FDE Group entity of any financial 
indebtedness; 

(c) any financial indebtedness of an FDE Group entity 
becoming due as a result of an event of default; 

(d) the cancellation or suspension of any financial 
indebtedness in respect of an FDE Group entity; or 

(e) the external auditor of an FDE Group entity 
expressing a qualified opinion on, or including an 
emphasis of matter in, its opinion on the statutory 
accounts of that FDE entity; 

in each case which the Relevant Authority reasonably believes (or 
would be likely reasonably to believe) could directly impact on 
the continued performance and delivery of the Deliverables in 
accordance with the Contract; and 

3.1.7 any one of the Financial Indicators set out at Paragraph 5 for 
any of the FDE Group entities failing to meet the required 
Financial Target Threshold. 

4. Consequences of Financial Distress Events 

4.1 Immediately upon notification by the Supplier of a Financial Distress Event (or if 
the Relevant Authority becomes aware of a Financial Distress Event without 
notification and brings the event to the attention of the Supplier), the Supplier shall 
have the obligations and the Relevant Authority shall have the rights and remedies 
as set out in Paragraphs 4.3 to 4.6. 

4.2 In the event of a late or non-payment of a Key Sub-contractor pursuant to 
Paragraph 3.1.5, the Relevant Authority shall not exercise any of its rights or 
remedies under Paragraph 4.3 without first giving the Supplier 10 Working Days 
to: 

4.2.1 rectify such late or non-payment; or 

4.2.2 demonstrate to the Relevant Authority’s reasonable 
satisfaction that there is a valid reason for late or non-payment. 

4.3 The Supplier shall (and shall procure that any Monitored Supplier, the Guarantor 
and/or any relevant Key Sub-contractor shall): 

4.3.1 at the request of the Relevant Authority, meet the Relevant 
Authority as soon as reasonably practicable (and in any event 
within 3 Working Days of the initial notification (or awareness) 
of the Financial Distress Event or such other period as the 
Relevant Authority may permit and notify to the Supplier in 
writing) to review the effect of the Financial Distress Event on 
the continued performance and delivery of the Services in 
accordance with the Contract; and 

4.3.2 where the Relevant Authority reasonably believes (taking into 
account the discussions and any representations made under 
Paragraph 4.3.1 that the Financial Distress Event could impact 
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on the continued performance and delivery of the Deliverables 
in accordance with the Contract: 

(a) submit to the Relevant Authority for its approval, a 
draft Financial Distress Remediation Plan as soon as 
reasonably practicable (and in any event, within 10 
Working Days of the initial notification (or awareness) 
of the Financial Distress Event or such other period 
as the Relevant Authority may permit and notify to the 
Supplier in writing); and 

(b) to the extent that it is legally permitted to do so and 
subject to Paragraph 4.8, provide such information 
relating to the Supplier, any Monitored Supplier, Key 
Sub-contractors and/or the Guarantor as the Buyer 
may reasonably require in order to understand the 
risk to the Deliverables, which may include forecasts 
in relation to cash flow, orders and profits and details 
of financial measures being considered to mitigate the 
impact of the Financial Distress Event. 

4.4 The Relevant Authority shall not withhold its approval of a draft Financial Distress 
Remediation Plan unreasonably. If the Relevant Authority does not approve the 
draft Financial Distress Remediation Plan, it shall inform the Supplier of its reasons 
and the Supplier shall take those reasons into account in the preparation of a 
further draft Financial Distress Remediation Plan, which shall be resubmitted to the 
Relevant Authority within 5 Working Days of the rejection of the first draft. This 
process shall be repeated until the Financial Distress Remediation Plan is 
approved by the Relevant Authority or referred to the Dispute Resolution 
Procedure set out in Clause 34 of the Core Terms under Paragraph 4.5. 

4.5 If the Relevant Authority considers that the draft Financial Distress Remediation 
Plan is insufficiently detailed to be properly evaluated, will take too long to complete 
or will not ensure the continued performance of the Supplier’s obligations in 
accordance with the Contract, then it may either agree a further time period for the 
development and agreement of the Financial Distress Remediation Plan or 
escalate any issues with the draft Financial Distress Remediation Plan using the 
Dispute Resolution Procedure in Clause 34 of the Core Terms. 

4.6 Following approval of the Financial Distress Remediation Plan by the Relevant 
Authority, the Supplier shall: 

4.6.1 on a regular basis (which shall not be less than fortnightly): 

(a) review and make any updates to the Financial 
Distress Remediation Plan as the Supplier may deem 
reasonably necessary and/or as may be reasonably 
requested by the Relevant Authority, so that the plan 
remains adequate, up to date and ensures the 
continued performance and delivery of the 
Deliverables in accordance with this Contract; and 

(b) provide a written report to the Relevant Authority 
setting out its progress against the Financial Distress 
Remediation Plan, the reasons for any changes made 
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to the Financial Distress Remediation Plan by the 
Supplier and/or the reasons why the Supplier may 
have decided not to make any changes; 

4.6.2 where updates are made to the Financial Distress Remediation 
Plan in accordance with Paragraph 4.6.1, submit an updated 
Financial Distress Remediation Plan to the Relevant Authority 
for its approval, and the provisions of Paragraphs 4.4 and 4.5 
shall apply to the review and approval process for the updated 
Financial Distress Remediation Plan; and 

4.6.3 comply with the Financial Distress Remediation Plan (including 
any updated Financial Distress Remediation Plan) and ensure 
that it achieves the financial and performance requirements set 
out in the Financial Distress Remediation Plan. 

4.7 Where the Supplier reasonably believes that the relevant Financial Distress Event 
under Paragraph 4.1 (or the circumstance or matter which has caused or otherwise 
led to it) no longer exists, it shall notify the Relevant Authority and the Parties may 
agree that the Supplier shall be relieved of its obligations under Paragraph 4.6. 

4.8 The Supplier shall use reasonable endeavours to put in place the necessary 
measures to ensure that the information specified at paragraph 4.3.2(b) is available 
when required and on request from the Relevant Authority and within reasonable 
timescales. Such measures may include: 

4.8.1 obtaining in advance written authority from Key Sub-
contractors, the Guarantor and/or Monitored Suppliers 
authorising the disclosure of the information to the Buyer and/or 
entering into confidentiality agreements which permit 
disclosure; 

4.8.2 agreeing in advance with the Relevant Authority, Key Sub-
contractors, the Guarantor and/or Monitored Suppliers a form 
of confidentiality agreement to be entered by the relevant 
parties to enable the disclosure of the information to the 
Relevant Authority; 

4.8.3 putting in place any other reasonable arrangements to enable 
the information to be lawfully disclosed to the Relevant 
Authority (which may include making price sensitive 
information available to the Relevant Authority’s nominated 
personnel through confidential arrangements, subject to their 
consent); and 

4.8.4 disclosing the information to the fullest extent that it is lawfully 
entitled to do so, including through the use of redaction, 
anonymisation and any other techniques to permit disclosure 
of the information without breaching a duty of confidentiality. 

5. Financial Indicators 

5.1 Subject to the calculation methodology set out at Annex 3 of this Schedule, the 
Financial Indicators and the corresponding calculations and thresholds used to 
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determine whether a Financial Distress Event has occurred in respect of those 
Financial Indicators, shall be as follows: 
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Financial 
Indicator 

Calculation1 
Financial 

Target 
Threshold: 

Monitoring and 
Reporting Frequency  

1 

Operating Margin 

 

Operating 
Margin = 

Operating Profit 
/ Revenue 

> 2.5% 

Tested and reported yearly  
in arrears within 120 days 

of each accounting 
reference based upon 

figures for the 12 months 
ending on the relevant 

accounting reference date 

2 

Free Cash Flow 
to Net Debt Ratio 

 

Free Cash Flow 
to Net Debt 
Ratio = Free 

Cash Flow / Net 
Debt 

 

> 15% 

 

Tested and reported yearly 
in arrears within 120 days 

of each accounting 
reference date based upon 
Free Cash Flow for the 12 

months ending on, and 
Net Debt at, the relevant 

accounting reference date  

3 

Net Debt + Net 
Pension Deficit to 
EBITDA ratio 

Net Debt + Net 
Pension Deficit 

to EBITDA Ratio 
= (Net Debt + 
Net Pension 

Deficit) / 
EBITDA 

2.5 times 

Tested and reported yearly 
in arrears within 90 days of 
each accounting reference 
date based upon EBITDA 
for the 12 months ending 
on, and the Net Debt and 
Net Pension Deficit at, the 

relevant accounting 
reference date 

4 

Net Interest Paid 
Cover 

Net Interest 
Paid Cover = 

Earnings Before 
Interest and Tax 

/ Net Interest 
Paid 

>4.5 times 

Tested and reported yearly 
in arrears within 120 days 

of each accounting 
reference date based upon 
figures for the 12 months 

ending on the relevant 
accounting reference date 

5 

Acid Ratio 

Acid Ratio = 
(Current Assets 
– Inventories) / 

Current 
Liabilities 

> 1times 

Tested and reported yearly 
in arrears within 120 days 
of each counting reference 
date based upon figures at 

the relevant accounting 
reference date  
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6 

Net Asset value 

Net Asset Value 
= Net Assets 

> £0 

Tested and reported yearly 
in arrears within 120 days 
of each counting reference 
date based upon figures at 

the relevant accounting 
reference date 

7 

Group Exposure 
Ratio 

Group Exposure 
/ Gross Assets 

<25% 

Tested and reported yearly 
in arrears within 90 days of 
each accounting reference 
date based upon figures at 

the relevant accounting 
reference date 

Key: 1 – see Annex 3 to this Schedule which sets out the calculation methodology to 
be used in the calculation of each financial indicator. 

5.2 Monitored Suppliers  

 

Monitored Supplier Applicable Financial Indicators 

(these are the Financial Indicators 
from the table in Paragraph 5.1 which 
are to apply to the Monitored 
Suppliers) 

Entity 1 Supplier  1 – Operating Margin 

5 – Acid ratio 

6 – Net Asset Value 

 

6. Termination rights 

6.1 The Relevant Authority shall be entitled to terminate the Contract if: 

6.1.1 the Supplier fails to notify the Relevant Authority of a Financial 
Distress Event in accordance with Paragraph 2.3.3; 

6.1.2 the Parties fail to agree a Financial Distress Remediation Plan 
(or any updated Financial Distress Remediation Plan) in 
accordance with Paragraphs 4.3 to 4.5; and/or 

6.1.3 the Supplier fails to comply with the terms of the Financial 
Distress Remediation Plan (or any updated Financial Distress 
Remediation Plan) in accordance with Paragraph 4.6.3, 

which shall be deemed to be an event to which Clause 10.4.1 of the 
Core Terms applies and Clauses 10.6.1 and 10.6.2 of the Core 
Terms shall apply accordingly. 
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7. Primacy of Credit Ratings 

7.1 Without prejudice to the Supplier’s obligations and the Relevant Authority’s rights 
and remedies under Paragraph 2, if, following the occurrence of a Financial 
Distress Event pursuant to any of Paragraphs 3.1.2 to 3.1.7, the Rating Agencies 
review and report subsequently that the credit ratings for the FDE Group entities 
do not drop below the relevant Credit Rating Thresholds specified for those entities 
in Annex 2 to this Schedule, then: 

7.1.1 the Supplier shall be relieved automatically of its obligations 
under Paragraphs 4.3 to 4.6; and 

7.1.2 the Relevant Authority shall not be entitled to require the 
Supplier to provide financial information in accordance with 
Paragraph 4.3.2(b). 

8. Board confirmation 

8.1 If the Contract has been specified as a Critical Service Contract under Paragraph 
1.1 of Part B of Annex 1 to Call-Off Schedule 8 (Business Continuity and Disaster 
Recovery) (if applicable) then, subject to Paragraph 8.4 of this Schedule, the 
Supplier shall within ninety (90) days after each Accounting Reference Date or 
within 15 months of the previous Board Confirmation (whichever is the earlier) 
provide a Board Confirmation to the Relevant Authority in the form set out at Annex 
4 to this Schedule, confirming that to the best of the Board’s knowledge and belief, 
it is not aware of and has no knowledge: 

8.1.1 that a Financial Distress Event has occurred since the later of 
the Effective Date or the previous Board Confirmation or is 
subsisting; or 

8.1.2 of any matters which have occurred or are subsisting that could 
reasonably be expected to cause a Financial Distress Event. 

8.2 The Supplier shall ensure that in its preparation of the Board Confirmation it 
exercises due care and diligence and has made reasonable enquiry of all relevant 
Supplier Staff and other persons as is reasonably necessary to understand and 
confirm the position. 

8.3 In respect of the first Board Confirmation to be provided under this Contract, the 
Supplier shall provide the Board Confirmation within 15 months of the Effective 
Date if earlier than the timescale for submission set out in Paragraph 8.1 of this 
Schedule. 

8.4 Where the Supplier is unable to provide a Board Confirmation in accordance with 
Paragraphs 8.1 to 8.3 of this Schedule due to the occurrence of a Financial Distress 
Event or knowledge of subsisting matters which could reasonably be expected to 
cause a Financial Distress Event, it will be sufficient for the Supplier to submit in 
place of the Board Confirmation, a statement from the Board of Directors to the 
Buyer (and where the Supplier is a Strategic Supplier, the Supplier shall send a 
copy of the statement to the Cabinet Office Markets and Suppliers Team) setting 
out full details of any Financial Distress Events that have occurred and/or the 
matters which could reasonably be expected to cause a Financial Distress Event. 
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9. Optional Clauses 

9.1 Where a Buyer’s Call-Off Contract is a Bronze Contract, if specified in the Order 
Form, the terms at Annex 5 shall apply to the Call-Off Contract in place of the 
foregoing terms of this Joint Schedule 7.  
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Annex 1: Rating Agencies and their standard Rating System 

Rating Agency 1 – Dun and Bradstreet 
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Annex 2: Credit Ratings and Credit Rating Thresholds 

Entity Credit rating (long 
term) 

Supplier D&B Threshold - 50 
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Annex 3: Calculation methodology for Financial Indicators 

The Supplier shall ensure that it uses the following general and specific 
methodologies for calculating the Financial Indicators against the Financial Target 
Thresholds: 

General methodology 

1 Terminology: The terms referred to in this Annex are those used by UK 
companies in their financial statements. Where the entity is not a UK company, 
the corresponding items should be used even if the terminology is slightly 
different (for example a charity would refer to a surplus or deficit rather than a 
profit or loss). 

2 Groups: Where the entity is the holding company of a group and prepares 
consolidated financial statements, the consolidated figures should be used. 

3 Foreign currency conversion: Figures denominated in foreign currencies 
should be converted at the exchange rate in force at the relevant date for which 
the Financial Indicator is being calculated. 

4 Treatment of non-underlying items: Financial Indicators should be based on 
the figures in the financial statements before adjusting for non-underlying items. 

Specific Methodology 
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1 Financial Indicator 2 Specific Methodology 

3 1 

4 Operating Margin 

5 The elements used to calculate the Operating Margin 
should be shown on the face of the Income Statement 
in a standard set of financial statements. 

6 Figures for Operating Profit and Revenue should 
exclude the entity’s share of the results of any joint 
ventures or Associates. 

7 Where an entity has an operating loss (i.e. where the 
operating profit is negative), Operating Profit should 
be taken to be zero. 
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8 2 

9 Free Cash Flow to 
Net Debt Ratio 

10  

11  

12  

13  

14 “Free Cash Flow” = Net Cash Flow from 
Operating Activities – Capital Expenditure 

15 “Capital Expenditure” = Purchase of property, 
plant & equipment + purchase of intangible assets 

16 “Net Debt” = Bank overdrafts + Loans and 
borrowings + Finance Leases + Deferred 
consideration payable – Cash and cash equivalents 

17 The majority of the elements used to calculate 
the Free Cash Flow to Net Debt Ratio should be shown 
on the face of the Statement of Cash Flows and the 
Balance Sheet in a standard set of financial 
statements. 

18 Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities: This 
should be stated after deduction of interest and tax 
paid. 

19 Capital expenditure: The elements of capital 
expenditure may be described slightly differently but 
will be found under ‘Cash flows from investing 
activities’ in the Statement of Cash Flows; they should 
be limited to the purchase of fixed assets (including 
intangible assets) for the business and exclude 
acquisitions. The figure should be shown gross 
without any deduction for any proceeds of sale of 
fixed assets. 

20 Net Debt: The elements of Net Debt may also be 
described slightly differently and should be found 
either on the face of the Balance Sheet or in the 
relevant note to the financial statements. All interest 
bearing liabilities (other than retirement benefit 
obligations) should be treated as borrowings as 
should, where disclosed, any liabilities (less any 
assets) in respect  of any hedges designated as linked 
to borrowings (but not non-designated hedges). 
Borrowings should also include balances owed to 
other group members. 

21 Deferred consideration payable should be 
included in Net Debt despite typically being non-
interest bearing. 

22 Cash and cash equivalents should include short-
term financial investments shown in current assets. 

23 Where Net debt is negative (i.e. an entity has net 
cash), the relevant Financial Target Threshold should 
be treated as having been met. 

24  
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25 3 

26 Net Debt + Net  
Pension Deficit to 
EBITDA ratio 

27 “Net Debt” = Bank overdrafts + Loans and 
borrowings + Finance leases + Deferred consideration 
payable – Cash and cash equivalents 

28 “Net Pension Deficit” = Retirement Benefit 
Obligations – Retirement Benefit Assets 

29 “EBITDA” = Operating profit + Depreciation 
charge + Amortisation charge 

30 The majority of the elements used to calculate 
the Net Debt + Net Pension Deficit to EBITDA Ratio 
should be shown on the face of the Balance sheet, 
Income statement and Statement of Cash Flows in a 
standard set of financial statements but will otherwise 
be found in the notes to the financial statements. 

31 Net Debt: The elements of Net Debt may be 
described slightly differently and should be found 
either on the face of the Balance Sheet or in the 
relevant note to the financial statements. All interest 
bearing liabilities (other than retirement benefit 
obligations) should be included as borrowings as 
should, where disclosed, any liabilities (less any 
assets) in respect of any hedges designated as linked 
to borrowings (but not non-designated hedges). 
Borrowings should also include balances owed to 
other group members. 

32 Deferred consideration payable should be 
included in Net Debt despite typically being non-
interest bearing. 

33 Cash and cash equivalents should include short-
term financial investments shown in current assets. 

34 Net Pension Deficit: Retirement Benefit 
Obligations and Retirement Benefit Assets may be 
shown on the face of the Balance Sheet or in the notes 
to the financial statements. They may also be 
described as pension benefits / obligations, post-
employment obligations or other similar terms.  

35 Where ‘Net Debt + Net Pension Deficit’ is 
negative, the relevant Financial Target Threshold 
should be treated as having been met. 

36 EBITDA: Operating profit should be shown on 
the face of the Income Statement and, for the 
purposes of calculating this Financial Indicator, 
should include the entity’s share of the results of any 
joint ventures or Associates. 

37 The depreciation and amortisation charges for 
the period may be found on the face of the Statement 
of Cash Flows or in a Note to the Accounts.  
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38 Where EBITDA is negative, the relevant Financial 
Target Threshold should be treated as not having 
been met (unless ‘Net Debt + Net Pension Deficit’ is 
also negative, in which case the relevant Financial 
Target Threshold should be regarded as having been 
met). 

39 4 

40 Net Interest 
Paid Cover 

41 “Earnings Before Interest and Tax” = Operating 
profit 

42 “Net Interest Paid” = Interest paid – Interest 
received 

43 Operating profit should be shown on the face of 
the Income Statement in a standard set of financial 
statements and, for the purposes of calculating this 
Financial Indicator, should include the entity’s share 
of the results of any joint ventures or Associates. 

44 Interest received and interest paid should be 
shown on the face of the Cash Flow statement. 

45 Where Net interest paid is negative (i.e. the entity 
has net interest received), the relevant Financial 
Target Threshold should be treated as having been 
met. 

46 5 

47 Acid Ratio 

48 All elements that are used to calculate the Acid 
Ratio are available on the face of the Balance Sheet in 
a standard set of financial statements. 

49 6 

50 Net Asset 
value 

51 Net Assets are shown (but sometimes not 
labelled) on the face of the Balance Sheet of a 
standard set of financial statements. Net Assets are 
sometimes called net worth or ‘Shareholders’ Funds’. 
They represent the net assets available to the 
shareholders. Where an entity has a majority interest 
in another entity in which there are also minority or 
non-controlling interests (i.e. where it has a 
subsidiary partially owned by outside investors), Net 
Assets should be taken inclusive of minority or non-
controlling interests (as if the entity owned 100% of 
such entity). 
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52 7 

53 Group 
Exposure Ratio 

54  “Group Exposure” = Balances owed by Group 
Undertakings + Contingent liabilities assumed in 
support of Group Undertakings 

55 “Gross Assets” = Fixed Assets + Current Assets 

56 Group Exposure:  Balances owed by (ie 
receivable from) Group Undertakings are shown 
within Fixed assets or Current assets either on the 
face of the Balance Sheet or in the relevant notes to 
the financial statements. In many cases there may be 
no such balances, in particular where an entity is not 
a member of a group or is itself the ultimate holding 
company of the group. 

57 Contingent liabilities assumed in support of 
Group Undertakings are shown in the Contingent 
Liabilities note in a standard set of financial 
statements. They include guarantees and security 
given in support of the borrowings of other group 
companies, often as part of group borrowing 
arrangements. Where the contingent liabilities are 
capped, the capped figure should be taken as their 
value. Where no cap or maximum is specified, the 
relevant Financial Target Threshold should 
automatically be regarded as not having been met. 

58 In many cases an entity may not have assumed 
any contingent liabilities in support of Group 
Undertakings, in particular where an entity is not a 
member of a group or is itself the ultimate holding 
company of the group. 

59 Gross Assets: Both Fixed assets and Current 
assets are shown on the face of the Balance Sheet 
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ANNEX 4: BOARD CONFIRMATION 

 

Supplier Name: 

Contract Reference Number: 

 

The Board of Directors acknowledge the requirements set out at paragraph 8 
of Joint Schedule 7 (Financial Distress) and confirm that the Supplier has 
exercised due care and diligence and made reasonable enquiry of all relevant 
Supplier Staff and other persons as is reasonably necessary to enable the 
Board to prepare this statement. 

The Board of Directors confirms, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that 
as at the date of this Board Confirmation it is not aware of and has no 
knowledge: 

(a) that a Financial Distress Event has occurred since the later of the 
previous Board Confirmation and the Effective Date or is subsisting; 
or 

(b) of any matters which have occurred or are subsisting that could 
reasonably be expected to cause a Financial Distress Event 

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors: 

 

Chair  ………………………………… 

Signed  ………………………………… 

Date  ………………………………… 

 

Director  ………………………………… 

Signed  ………………………………… 

Date  ………………………………… 
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ANNEX 5: OPTIONAL CLAUSES FOR BRONZE 

CONTRACTS 

Definitions 

In this Annex 5, the following words shall have the following meanings and they 
shall supplement Joint Schedule 1 (Definitions): 

"Credit Rating 
Threshold" 

1 the minimum credit rating level for the 
Monitored Company as set out in 
Appendix 2; 

"Financial Distress 
Event" 

2 the occurrence or one or more of the 
following events: 

a) the credit rating of the Monitored 
Company dropping below the 
applicable Credit Rating Threshold; 

b) the Monitored Company issuing a 
profits warning to a stock exchange or 
making any other public announcement 
about a material deterioration in its 
financial position or prospects; 

c) there being a public investigation into 
improper financial accounting and 
reporting, suspected fraud or any other 
impropriety of the Monitored Party;  

d) Monitored Company committing a 
material breach of covenant to its 
lenders;  

e) a Key Subcontractor (where applicable) 
notifying CCS that the Supplier has not 
satisfied any sums properly due under 
a specified invoice and not subject to a 
genuine dispute; or 

f) any of the following: 

i) commencement of any litigation 
against the Monitored Company 
with respect to financial 
indebtedness or obligations under a 
contract;  

ii) non-payment by the Monitored 
Company of any financial 
indebtedness; 
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iii) any financial indebtedness of the 
Monitored Company becoming due 
as a result of an event of default; or 

iv) the cancellation or suspension of 
any financial indebtedness in 
respect of the Monitored Company 

3 in each case which the Relevant Authority 
reasonably believes (or would be likely 
reasonably to believe) could directly impact 
on the continued performance of any 
Contract and delivery of the Deliverables in 
accordance with any Call-Off Contract; 

"Financial Distress 
Service Continuity 
Plan" 

4 a plan setting out how the Supplier will 
ensure the continued performance and 
delivery of the Deliverables in accordance 
with each Call-Off Contract in the event that 
a Financial Distress Event occurs; 

“Monitored 
Company” 

5 Supplier 

"Rating Agencies" 6 the rating agencies listed in Appendix 1. 

When this Schedule applies 

The Parties shall comply with the provisions of this Annex 5 in relation to the 
assessment of the financial standing of the Monitored Companies and the 
consequences of a change to that financial standing. 

    The terms of this Annex 5 shall survive:  

under the Framework Contract until the later of (a) the termination or 
expiry of the Framework Contract or (b) the latest date of 
termination or expiry of any call-off contract entered into under 
the Framework Contract (which might be after the date of 
termination or expiry of the Framework Contract); and 

under the Call-Off Contract until the termination or expiry of the Call-
Off Contract. 

What happens when your credit rating changes 

The Supplier warrants and represents to the Relevant Authority that as at the Start 
Date the long term credit ratings issued for the Monitored Companies by each 
of the Rating Agencies are as set out in Appendix 2.  

The Supplier shall promptly (and in any event within five (5) Working Days) notify 
the Relevant Authority in writing if there is any downgrade in the credit rating 
issued by any Rating Agency for a Monitored Company. 

If there is any downgrade credit rating issued by any Rating Agency for the 
Monitored Company the Supplier shall ensure that the Monitored Company’s 
auditors thereafter provide the Relevant Authority within 10 Working Days of the 
end of each Contract Year and within 10 Working Days of written request by the 
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Relevant Authority (such requests not to exceed 4 in any Contract Year) with 
written calculations  

The Supplier shall:  

regularly monitor the credit ratings of each Monitored Company with 
the Rating Agencies; and  

promptly notify (or shall procure that its auditors promptly notify) the 
Relevant Authority in writing following the occurrence of a 
Financial Distress Event or any fact, circumstance or matter 
which could cause a Financial Distress Event and in any event, 
ensure that such notification is made within 10 Working Days 
of the date on which the Supplier first becomes aware of the 
Financial Distress Event or the fact, circumstance or matter 
which could cause a Financial Distress Event. 

For the purposes of determining whether a Financial Distress Event has occurred 
the credit rating of the Monitored Company shall be deemed to have dropped 
below the applicable Credit Rating Threshold if any of the Rating Agencies have 
rated the Monitored Company at or below the applicable Credit Rating 
Threshold. 

What happens if there is a financial distress event 

In the event of a Financial Distress Event then, immediately upon notification of the 
Financial Distress Event (or if the Relevant Authority becomes aware of the 
Financial Distress Event without notification and brings the event to the attention 
of the Supplier), the Supplier shall have the obligations and the Relevant 
Authority shall have the rights and remedies as set out in Paragraphs 4.3 to 4.6 
of this Annex 5. 

In the event that a Financial Distress Event arises due to a Key Subcontractor 
notifying the Relevant Authority that the Supplier has not satisfied any sums 
properly due under a specified invoice and not subject to a genuine dispute then, 
the Relevant Authority shall not exercise any of its rights or remedies under 
Paragraph 4.3 without first giving the Supplier ten (10) Working Days to: 

rectify such late or non-payment; or  

demonstrate to the Relevant Authority's reasonable satisfaction that 
there is a valid reason for late or non-payment. 

The Supplier shall and shall procure that the other Monitored Companies shall: 

at the request of the Relevant Authority meet the Relevant Authority 
as soon as reasonably practicable (and in any event within 
three (3) Working Days of the initial notification (or awareness) 
of the Financial Distress Event) to review the effect of the 
Financial Distress Event on the continued performance of each 
Contract and delivery of the Deliverables in accordance each 
Call-Off Contract; and 

where the Relevant Authority reasonably believes (taking into account 
the discussions and any representations made under 
Paragraph 4.3.1) that the Financial Distress Event could 
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impact on the continued performance of each Contract and 
delivery of the Deliverables in accordance with each Call-Off 
Contract:  

submit to the Relevant Authority for its Approval, a draft Financial 
Distress Service Continuity Plan as soon as reasonably 
practicable (and in any event, within ten (10) Working Days 
of the initial notification (or awareness) of the Financial 
Distress Event); and 

provide such financial information relating to the Monitored 
Company as the Relevant Authority may reasonably 
require. 

If the Relevant Authority does not (acting reasonably) approve the draft Financial 
Distress Service Continuity Plan, it shall inform the Supplier of its reasons and 
the Supplier shall take those reasons into account in the preparation of a further 
draft Financial Distress Service Continuity Plan, which shall be resubmitted to 
the Relevant Authority within five (5) Working Days of the rejection of the first or 
subsequent (as the case may be) drafts. This process shall be repeated until 
the Financial Distress Service Continuity Plan is Approved by the Relevant 
Authority or referred to the Dispute Resolution Procedure. 

If the Relevant Authority considers that the draft Financial Distress Service 
Continuity Plan is insufficiently detailed to be properly evaluated, will take too 
long to complete or will not remedy the relevant Financial Distress Event, then 
it may either agree a further time period for the development and agreement of 
the Financial Distress Service Continuity Plan or escalate any issues with the 
draft Financial Distress Service Continuity Plan using the Dispute Resolution 
Procedure.  

Following Approval of the Financial Distress Service Continuity Plan by the 
Relevant Authority, the Supplier shall: 

on a regular basis (which shall not be less than Monthly), review the 
Financial Distress Service Continuity Plan and assess whether 
it remains adequate and up to date to ensure the continued 
performance each Contract and delivery of the Deliverables in 
accordance with each Call-Off Contract; 

where the Financial Distress Service Continuity Plan is not adequate 
or up to date in accordance with Paragraph 4.6.1, submit an 
updated Financial Distress Service Continuity Plan to CCS for 
its Approval, and the provisions of Paragraphs 4.5 and 4.6 shall 
apply to the review and Approval process for the updated 
Financial Distress Service Continuity Plan; and  

comply with the Financial Distress Service Continuity Plan (including 
any updated Financial Distress Service Continuity Plan). 

Where the Supplier reasonably believes that the relevant Financial Distress Event 
(or the circumstance or matter which has caused or otherwise led to it) no longer 
exists, it shall notify the Relevant Authority and subject to the agreement of the 
Parties, the Supplier may be relieved of its obligations under Paragraph 4.6.  
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CCS shall be able to share any information it receives from the Buyer in accordance 
with this Paragraph with any Buyer who has entered into a Call-Off Contract with 
the Supplier. 

When CCS or the Buyer can terminate for financial distress  

CCS shall be entitled to terminate this Contract and Buyers shall be entitled to 
terminate their Call-Off Contracts for material Default if:  

the Supplier fails to notify the Relevant Authority of a Financial 
Distress Event in accordance with Paragraph 3.4;  

The Relevant Authority and the Supplier fail to agree a Financial 
Distress Service Continuity Plan (or any updated Financial 
Distress Service Continuity Plan) in accordance with 
Paragraphs 4.3 to 4.5; and/or 

the Supplier fails to comply with the terms of the Financial Distress 
Service Continuity Plan (or any updated Financial Distress 
Service Continuity Plan) in accordance with Paragraph 4.6.3. 

If the Contract is terminated in accordance with Paragraph 5.1, Clauses 10.6.1 and 
10.6.2 of the Core Terms shall apply as if the Contract had been terminated 
under Clause 10.4.1. 

What happens If your credit rating is still good 

Without prejudice to the Supplier’s obligations and CCS’ and the Buyer’s rights and 
remedies under Paragraph 5, if, following the occurrence of a Financial Distress 
Event, the Rating Agencies review and report subsequently that the credit 
ratings do not drop below the relevant Credit Rating Threshold, then: 

the Supplier shall be relieved automatically of its obligations under 
Paragraphs 4.3 to 4.6; and 

The Relevant Authority shall not be entitled to require the Supplier to 
provide financial information in accordance with 
Paragraph 4.3.2(b).  
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APPENDIX 1: RATING AGENCIES 

Rating Agency 1 – Dun and Bradstreet 
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APPENDIX 2: CREDIT RATINGS & CREDIT RATING 

THRESHOLDS 

Part 1: Current Rating 

Entity Credit rating (long 
term) 

Supplier D&B Threshold - 50 
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Call-Off Schedule 1 (Transparency Reports) 

1.1 The Supplier recognises that the Buyer is subject to PPN 01/17 (Updates to 
transparency principles v1.1 
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0117-
update-to-transparency-principles). The Supplier shall comply with the provisions 
of this Schedule in order to assist the Buyer with its compliance with its obligations 
under that PPN. 

 
1.2 Without prejudice to the Supplier's reporting requirements set out in the Framework 

Contract, within three (3) Months of the Start Date the Supplier shall submit to the 
Buyer for Approval (such Approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) 
draft Transparency Reports consistent with the content requirements and format 
set out in the Annex of this Schedule. 

 
1.3 If the Buyer rejects any proposed Transparency Report submitted by the Supplier, 

the Supplier shall submit a revised version of the relevant report for further 
Approval within five (5) days of receipt of any notice of rejection, taking account of 
any recommendations for revision and improvement to the report provided by the 
Buyer. If the Parties fail to agree on a draft Transparency Report the Buyer shall 
determine what should be included. Any other disagreement in connection with 
Transparency Reports shall be treated as a Dispute. 

 
1.4 The Supplier shall provide accurate and up-to-date versions of each Transparency 

Report to the Buyer at the frequency referred to in the Annex of this Schedule. 
  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0117-update-to-transparency-principles
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0117-update-to-transparency-principles
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Annex A: List of Transparency Reports 

Title  Content  Format  Frequency  

Performance
  

TBC Word report 
 

Quarterly 
 

Call-Off  Contract 
Charges  

TBC Word report 
 

On completion 
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Call-Off Schedule 2 (Staff Transfer) 

 

1. Definitions 

1.1 In this Schedule, the following words have the following meanings and they 
shall supplement Joint Schedule 1  (Definitions): 

“Acquired Rights 
Directive”  

60 the  European  Council  Directive 77/187/EEC  on 
the approximation of laws of European member states 
relating to the safeguarding of employees’ rights in the 
event of transfers of undertakings, businesses or parts 
of undertakings or businesses, as amended or re-
enacted from time to time; 

61  

"Employee 
Liability" 

62 all claims, actions, proceedings, orders, 
demands, complaints, investigations (save for any 
claims for personal injury which are covered by 
insurance) and any award, compensation, damages, 
tribunal awards, fine, loss, order, penalty, 
disbursement, payment made by way of settlement 
and costs, expenses and legal costs reasonably 
incurred in connection with a claim or investigation 
including in relation to the following: 

a) redundancy payments including contractual or 
enhanced redundancy costs, termination costs 
and notice payments;  

 b) unfair, wrongful or constructive dismissal 
compensation; 

 c) compensation for discrimination on grounds 
of  sex, race, disability, age, religion or belief, 
gender reassignment, marriage or civil 
partnership, pregnancy and maternity  or sexual 
orientation or claims for equal pay;  

 d) compensation for less favourable treatment of 
part-time workers or fixed term employees; 

 e) outstanding employment debts and unlawful 
deduction of wages including any PAYE and 
National Insurance Contributions; 
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 f) employment claims whether in tort, contract or 
statute or otherwise; 

 g) any investigation relating  to  employment matters 
by the Equality and Human Rights Commission 
or other enforcement, regulatory or supervisory 
body and of implementing any requirements 
which may arise from such investigation; 

"Former 
Supplier" 

a supplier supplying services to the Buyer before the 
Relevant Transfer Date that are the same as or 
substantially similar to the Services (or any part of the 
Services) and shall include any Subcontractor of such 
supplier (or any Subcontractor of any such 
Subcontractor); 

"New Fair Deal" the revised Fair Deal position set out in the HM Treasury 
guidance:  "Fair Deal for Staff Pensions: Staff Transfer 
from Central Government" issued in October 2013 
including: 

(i) any amendments to that document 
immediately prior to the Relevant Transfer 
Date; and 

(ii) any similar pension protection in 
accordance with the Annexes D1-D3 
inclusive to Part D of this Schedule as 
notified to the Supplier by the Buyer; 

“Old Fair Deal” HM Treasury Guidance “Staff Transfers from Central 
Government: A Fair Deal for Staff Pensions” issued in 
June 1999 including the supplementary guidance “Fair 
Deal for Staff pensions: Procurement of Bulk Transfer 
Agreements and Related Issues” issued in June 2004; 

"Partial 
Termination" 

the partial termination of the relevant Contract to the 
extent that it relates to the provision of any part of the 
Services as further provided for in Clause 10.4 (When 
CCS or the Buyer can end this contract) or 10.6 (When 
the Supplier can end the contract); 

"Relevant 
Transfer" 

a transfer of employment to which the Employment 
Regulations applies; 

"Relevant 
Transfer Date" 

in relation to a Relevant Transfer, the date upon which 
the Relevant Transfer takes place. For the purposes of 
Part D: Pensions and its Annexes, where the Supplier or 
a Subcontractor was the Former Supplier and there is 
no Relevant Transfer of the Fair Deal Employees 
because they remain continuously employed by the 
Supplier (or Subcontractor), references to the Relevant 
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Transfer Date shall become references to the Start 
Date; 

"Staffing 
Information" 

in relation to all persons identified on the Supplier's 
Provisional Supplier Personnel List or Supplier's Final 
Supplier Personnel List, as the case may be, such 
information as the Buyer may reasonably request 
(subject to all applicable provisions of the Data 
Protection Legislation), but including in an anonymised 
format: 

(a) their ages, dates of commencement of 
employment or engagement, gender and place of 
work; 

 (b) details of whether they are employed, self-
employed contractors or consultants, agency 
workers or otherwise; 

 (c) the identity of the employer or relevant contracting 
Party; 

 (d) their relevant contractual notice periods and any 
other terms relating to termination of 
employment, including redundancy procedures, 
and redundancy payments; 

 (e) their wages, salaries, bonuses and profit sharing 
arrangements as applicable; 

 (f) details of other employment-related benefits, 
including (without limitation) medical insurance, 
life assurance, pension or other retirement 
benefit schemes, share option schemes and 
company car schedules applicable to them; 

 (g) any outstanding or potential contractual, statutory 
or other liabilities in respect of such individuals 
(including in respect of personal injury claims); 

 (h) details of any such individuals on long term 
sickness absence, parental leave, maternity 
leave or other authorised long term absence;  

 (i) copies of all relevant documents and materials 
relating to such information, including copies of 
relevant contracts of employment (or relevant 
standard contracts if applied generally in respect 
of such employees); and 
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(j) any other "employee liability information" as such 
term is defined in regulation 11 of the 
Employment Regulations;  

"Supplier's Final 
Supplier 
Personnel List" 

a list provided by the Supplier of all Supplier Staff whose 
will transfer under the Employment Regulations on the 
Service Transfer Date; 

"Supplier's 
Provisional 
Supplier 
Personnel List" 

a list prepared and updated by the Supplier of all 
Supplier Staff who are at the date of the list  wholly or 
mainly engaged in or assigned to the provision of the 
Services or any relevant part of the Services which it is 
envisaged as at the date of such list will no longer be 
provided by the Supplier; 

"Term" the period commencing on the Start Date and ending on 
the expiry of the Initial Period or any Extension Period or 
on earlier termination of the relevant Contract; 

"Transferring 
Buyer 
Employees" 

those employees of the Buyer to whom the Employment 
Regulations will apply on the Relevant Transfer Date; 

"Transferring 
Former Supplier 
Employees" 

in relation to a Former Supplier, those employees of the 
Former Supplier to whom the Employment Regulations 
will apply on the Relevant Transfer Date. 

2. INTERPRETATION 

2.1 Where a provision in this Schedule imposes any obligation on the Supplier 
including (without limit) to comply with a requirement or provide an indemnity, 
undertaking or warranty, the Supplier shall procure that each of its 
Subcontractors shall comply with such obligation and provide such indemnity, 
undertaking or warranty to CCS, the Buyer, Former Supplier, Replacement 
Supplier or Replacement Subcontractor, as the case may be and where the 
Subcontractor fails to satisfy any claims under such indemnities the Supplier 
will be liable for satisfying any such claim as if it had provided the indemnity 
itself. 

2.2 The provisions of Paragraphs 2.1 and 2.6 of Part A, Paragraph 3.1 of Part B, 
Paragraphs 1.5, 1.7 and 1.9 of Part C, Part D and Paragraphs 1.4, 2.3 and 2.8 
of Part E of this Schedule (together “Third Party Provisions”) confer benefits on 
third parties (each such person a “Third Party Beneficiary”) and are intended to 
be enforceable by Third Party Beneficiaries by virtue of the CRTPA.   

2.3 Subject to Paragraph 2.2 above, a person who is not a Party to this Call-Off 
Contract has no right under the CRTPA to enforce any term of this Call-Off 
Contract but this does not affect any right or remedy of any person which exists 
or is available otherwise than pursuant to that Act.  
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2.4 No Third Party Beneficiary may enforce, or take any step to enforce, any Third 
Party Provision without the prior written consent of the Buyer, which may, if 
given, be given on and subject to such terms as the Buyer may determine. 

2.5 Any amendments or modifications to this Call-Off Contract may be made, and 
any rights created under Paragraph 2.2 above may be altered or extinguished, 
by the Parties without the consent of any Third Party Beneficiary.   

3. Which parts of this Schedule apply 

Only the following parts of this Schedule shall apply to this Call Off Contract: 

Part C (No Staff Transfer on the Start Date) 

Part E (Staff Transfer on Exit) 
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Part C: No Staff Transfer on the Start Date 

1. What happens if there is a staff transfer 

1.1 The Buyer and the Supplier agree that the commencement of the provision of 
the Services or of any part of the Services will not be a Relevant Transfer in 
relation to any employees of the Buyer and/or any Former Supplier.   

1.2 If any employee of the Buyer and/or a Former Supplier claims, or it is 
determined in relation to any employee of the Buyer and/or a Former Supplier, 
that his/her contract of employment has been transferred from the Buyer and/or 
the Former Supplier to the Supplier and/or any Subcontractor pursuant to the 
Employment Regulations or the Acquired Rights Directive then: 

1.2.1 the Supplier shall, and shall procure that the relevant 
Subcontractor shall, within 5 Working Days of becoming aware 
of that fact, notify the Buyer in writing and, where required by the 
Buyer, notify the Former Supplier in writing; and 

1.2.2 the Buyer and/or the Former Supplier may offer (or may procure 
that a third party may offer) employment to such person within 
15 Working Days of the notification from the Supplier or the 
Subcontractor (as appropriate) or take such other reasonable 
steps as the Buyer or Former Supplier (as the case may be) it 
considers appropriate to deal with the matter provided always 
that such steps are in compliance with applicable Law. 

1.3 If an offer referred to in Paragraph 1.2.2 is accepted (or if the situation has 
otherwise been resolved by the Buyer and/or the Former Supplier),, the 
Supplier shall, or shall procure that the Subcontractor shall, immediately 
release the person from his/her employment or alleged employment. 

1.4 If by the end of the 15 Working Day period referred to in Paragraph 1.2.2:  

1.4.1  no such offer of employment has been made;  

1.4.2 such offer has been made but not accepted; or 

1.4.3 the situation has not otherwise been resolved;  

the Supplier may within 5 Working Days give notice to terminate the employment or 
alleged employment of such person.  

 

1.5 Subject to the Supplier and/or the relevant Subcontractor acting in accordance 
with the provisions of Paragraphs 1.2 to 1.4  and in accordance with all 
applicable employment procedures set out in applicable Law and subject also 
to Paragraph 1.8 the Buyer shall: 

1.5.1 indemnify the Supplier and/or the relevant Subcontractor against 
all Employee Liabilities arising out of the termination of the 
employment of any of the Buyer's employees referred to in 
Paragraph 1.2 made pursuant to the provisions of Paragraph 1.4 
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provided that the Supplier takes, or shall procure that the 
Subcontractor takes, all reasonable steps to minimise any such 
Employee Liabilities; and  

1.5.2 procure that the Former Supplier indemnifies the Supplier and/or 
any Subcontractor against all Employee Liabilities arising out of 
termination of the employment of the employees of the Former 
Supplier referred to in Paragraph 1.2 made pursuant to the 
provisions of Paragraph 1.4 provided that the Supplier takes, or 
shall procure that the relevant Subcontractor takes, all 
reasonable steps to minimise any such Employee Liabilities. 

1.6 If any such person as is described in Paragraph 1.2 is neither re employed by 
the Buyer and/or the Former Supplier as appropriate nor dismissed by the 
Supplier and/or any Subcontractor within the 15 Working Day period referred 
to in Paragraph 1.4 such person shall be treated as having transferred to the 
Supplier and/or the Subcontractor (as appropriate) and the Supplier shall, or 
shall procure that the Subcontractor shall, comply with such obligations as may 
be imposed upon it under Law. 

1.7 Where any person remains employed by the Supplier and/or any Subcontractor 
pursuant to Paragraph 1.6, all Employee Liabilities in relation to such employee 
shall remain with the Supplier and/or the Subcontractor and the Supplier shall 
indemnify the Buyer and any Former Supplier, and shall procure that the 
Subcontractor shall indemnify the Buyer and any Former Supplier, against any 
Employee Liabilities that either of them may incur in respect of any such 
employees of the Supplier and/or employees of the Subcontractor. 

 

1.8 The indemnities in Paragraph 1.5:  

1.8.1 shall not apply to:  

(a)  any claim for: 

(i)     discrimination, including on the grounds of sex, race, 
disability, age, gender reassignment, marriage 
or civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity or 
sexual orientation, religion or belief; or  

(ii) equal pay or compensation for less favourable 
treatment of part-time workers or fixed-term 
employees,  

in any case in relation to any alleged act or omission of the Supplier 
and/or Subcontractor; or 

(b) any claim that the termination of employment was unfair 
because the Supplier and/or any Subcontractor neglected 
to follow a fair dismissal procedure; and  

1.8.2  shall apply only where the notification referred to in 
Paragraph 1.2.1 is made by the Supplier and/or any 
Subcontractor to the Buyer and, if applicable, Former Supplier 
within 6 months of the Start Date.  
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1.9 If the Supplier and/or the Subcontractor does not comply with Paragraph 1.2, 
all Employee Liabilities in relation to such employees shall remain with the 
Supplier and/or the Subcontractor and the Supplier shall (i) comply with the 
provisions of Part D: Pensions of this Schedule, and (ii) indemnify the Buyer 
and any Former Supplier against any Employee Liabilities that either of them 
may incur in respect of any such employees of the Supplier and/or employees 
of the Subcontractor. 

2. Limits on the Former Supplier’s obligations 

Where in this Part C the Buyer accepts an obligation to procure that a Former 
Supplier does or does not do something, such obligation shall be limited so that it 
extends only to the extent that the Buyer's contract with the Former Supplier 
contains a contractual right in that regard which the Buyer may enforce, or 
otherwise so that it requires only that the Buyer must use reasonable endeavours 
to procure that the Former Supplier does or does not act accordingly. 
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Part E: Staff Transfer on Exit  

1. Obligations before a Staff Transfer 

1.1 The Supplier agrees that within 20 Working Days of the earliest of: 

1.1.1 receipt of a notification from the Buyer of a Service Transfer or 
intended Service Transfer;  

1.1.2 receipt of the giving of notice of early termination or any Partial 
Termination of the relevant Contract;  

1.1.3 the date which is 12 Months before the end of the Term; and 

1.1.4 receipt of a written request of the Buyer at any time (provided that 
the Buyer shall only be entitled to make one such request in any 
6 Month period), 

it shall provide in a suitably anonymised format so as to comply with the Data 
Protection Legislation, the Supplier's Provisional Supplier Personnel List, 
together with the Staffing Information in relation to the Supplier's Provisional 
Supplier Personnel List and it shall provide an updated Supplier's Provisional 
Supplier Personnel List at such intervals as are reasonably requested by the 
Buyer.   

1.2 At least 20 Working Days prior to the Service Transfer Date, the Supplier shall 
provide to the Buyer or at the direction of the Buyer to any Replacement 
Supplier and/or any Replacement Subcontractor (i) the Supplier's Final Supplier 
Personnel List, which shall identify the basis upon which they are Transferring 
Supplier Employees and (ii) the Staffing Information in relation to the Supplier’s 
Final Supplier Personnel List (insofar as such information has not previously 
been provided). 

1.3 The Buyer shall be permitted to use and disclose information provided by the 
Supplier under Paragraphs 1.1 and 1.2 for the purpose of informing any 
prospective Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Subcontractor.  

1.4 The Supplier warrants, for the benefit of The Buyer, any Replacement Supplier, 
and any Replacement Subcontractor that all information provided pursuant to 
Paragraphs 1.1 and 1.2 shall be true and accurate in all material respects at 
the time of providing the information. 

1.5 From the date of the earliest event referred to in Paragraph 1.1.1, 1.1.2 
and 1.1.3, the Supplier agrees that it shall not, and agrees to procure that each 
Subcontractor shall not, assign any person to the provision of the Services who 
is not listed on the Supplier’s Provisional Supplier Personnel List and shall not 
without the approval of the Buyer (not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed): 

: 

1.5.1 replace or re-deploy any Supplier Staff listed on the Supplier 
Provisional Supplier Personnel List other than where any 
replacement is of equivalent grade, skills, experience and 
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expertise and is employed on the same terms and conditions of 
employment as the person he/she replaces 

1.5.2 make, promise, propose, permit or implement any material 
changes to the terms and conditions of employment of the 
Supplier Staff (including pensions and any payments connected 
with the termination of employment);  

1.5.3 increase the proportion of working time spent on the Services (or 
the relevant part of the Services) by any of the Supplier Staff save 
for fulfilling assignments and projects previously scheduled and 
agreed; 

1.5.4 introduce any new contractual or customary practice concerning 
the making of any lump sum payment on the termination of 
employment of any employees listed on the Supplier's 
Provisional Supplier Personnel List; 

1.5.5 increase or reduce the total number of employees so engaged, 
or deploy any other person to perform the Services (or the 
relevant part of the Services); 

1.5.6 terminate or give notice to terminate the employment or contracts 
of any persons on the Supplier's Provisional Supplier Personnel 
List save by due disciplinary process; 

and shall promptly notify, and procure that each Subcontractor shall promptly notify, 
the Buyer or, at the direction of the Buyer, any Replacement Supplier and any 
Replacement Subcontractor of any notice to terminate employment given by 
the Supplier or relevant Subcontractor or received from any persons listed on 
the Supplier's Provisional Supplier Personnel List regardless of when such 
notice takes effect. 

1.6 On or around each anniversary of the Start Date and up to four times during the 
last 12 Months of the Term, the Buyer may make written requests to the 
Supplier for information relating to the manner in which the Services are 
organised.  Within 20 Working Days of receipt of a written request the Supplier 
shall provide, and shall procure that each Subcontractor shall provide, to the 
Buyersuch information as the Buyer may reasonably require relating to the 
manner in which the Services are organised, which shall include: 

1.6.1 the numbers of employees engaged in providing the Services; 

1.6.2 the percentage of time spent by each employee engaged in 
providing the Services; 

1.6.3 the extent to which each employee qualifies for membership of 
any of the Statutory Schemes or any Broadly Comparable 
scheme set up pursuant to the provisions of any of the Annexes 
to Part D (Pensions) (as appropriate); and 

1.6.4 a description of the nature of the work undertaken by each 
employee by location. 

1.7 The Supplier shall provide, and shall procure that each Subcontractor shall 
provide, all reasonable cooperation and assistance to the Buyer, any 
Replacement Supplier and/or any Replacement Subcontractor to ensure the 
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smooth transfer of the Transferring Supplier Employees on the Service Transfer 
Date including providing sufficient information in advance of the Service 
Transfer Date to ensure that all necessary payroll arrangements can be made 
to enable the Transferring Supplier Employees to be paid as appropriate.  
Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, within 5 Working Days 
following the Service Transfer Date, the Supplier shall provide, and shall 
procure that each Subcontractor shall provide, to the Buyer or, at the direction 
of the Buyer, to any Replacement Supplier and/or any Replacement 
Subcontractor (as appropriate), in respect of each person on the Supplier's 
Final Supplier Personnel List who is a Transferring Supplier Employee:  

1.7.1 the most recent month's copy pay slip data; 

1.7.2 details of cumulative pay for tax and pension purposes; 

1.7.3 details of cumulative tax paid; 

1.7.4 tax code; 

1.7.5 details of any voluntary deductions from pay; and 

1.7.6 bank/building society account details for payroll purposes. 

2. Staff Transfer when the contract ends 

2.1 The Buyer and the Supplier acknowledge that subsequent to the 
commencement of the provision of the Services, the identity of the provider of 
the Services (or any part of the Services) may change (whether as a result of 
termination or Partial Termination of the relevant Contract or otherwise) 
resulting in the Services being undertaken by a Replacement Supplier and/or a 
Replacement Subcontractor.  Such change in the identity of the supplier of such 
services may constitute a Relevant Transfer to which the Employment 
Regulations and/or the Acquired Rights Directive will apply.  The Buyer and the 
Supplier agree that, as a result of the operation of the Employment Regulations, 
where a Relevant Transfer occurs, the contracts of employment between the 
Supplier and the Transferring Supplier Employees (except in relation to any 
contract terms disapplied through operation of regulation 10(2) of the 
Employment Regulations) will have effect on and from the Service Transfer 
Date as if originally made between the Replacement Supplier and/or a 
Replacement Subcontractor (as the case may be) and each such Transferring 
Supplier Employee. 

2.2 The Supplier shall, and shall procure that each Subcontractor shall,  comply 
with all its obligations in respect of the Transferring Supplier Employees arising 
under the Employment Regulations in respect of the period up to (and including) 
the Service Transfer Date and shall perform and discharge, and procure that 
each Subcontractor shall perform and discharge, all its obligations in respect of 
all the Transferring Supplier Employees arising in respect of the period up to 
(and including) the Service Transfer Date (including (without limit) the payment 
of all remuneration, benefits, entitlements, and outgoings, all wages, accrued 
but untaken holiday pay, bonuses, commissions, payments ofPAYE, national 
insurance contributions and pension contributions and all such sums due as a 
result of any Fair Deal Employees' participation in the Schemes which in any 
case are attributable in whole or in part to the period ending on (and including) 
the Service Transfer Date) and any necessary apportionments in respect of any 
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periodic payments shall be made between: (i) the Supplier and/or the 
Subcontractor (as appropriate); and (ii) the Replacement Supplier and/or 
Replacement Subcontractor.   

2.3 Subject to Paragraph 2.4, the Supplier shall indemnify the Buyer and/or the 
Replacement Supplier and/or any Replacement Subcontractor against any 
Employee Liabilities arising from or as a result of:  

2.3.1  any act or omission of the Supplier or any Subcontractor in 
respect of any Transferring Supplier Employee or any 
appropriate employee representative (as defined in the 
Employment Regulations) of any Transferring Supplier Employee 
whether occurring before, on or after the Service Transfer Date;  

2.3.2 the breach or non-observance by the Supplier or any 
Subcontractor occurring on or before the Service Transfer Date 
of:  

(a) any collective agreement applicable to the 
Transferring Supplier Employees; and/or 

(b) any other custom or practice with a trade union or 
staff association in respect of any Transferring 
Supplier Employees which the Supplier or any 
Subcontractor is contractually bound to honour; 

2.3.3 any claim by any trade union or other body or person 
representing any Transferring Supplier Employees arising from 
or connected with any failure by the Supplier or a Subcontractor 
to comply with any legal obligation to such trade union, body or 
person arising on or before the Service Transfer Date; 

2.3.4 any proceeding, claim or demand by HMRC or other statutory 
authority in respect of any financial obligation including, but not 
limited to, PAYE and primary and secondary national insurance 
contributions: 

(a) in relation to any Transferring Supplier Employee, 
to the extent that the proceeding, claim or 
demand by HMRC or other statutory authority 
relates to financial obligations arising on and 
before the Service Transfer Date; and 

(b) in relation to any employee who is not identified 
in the Supplier’s Final Supplier Personnel List, 
and in respect of whom it is later alleged or 
determined that the Employment Regulations 
applied so as to transfer his/her employment from 
the Supplier to the Buyer and/or Replacement 
Supplier and/or any Replacement Subcontractor, 
to the extent that the proceeding, claim or 
demand by HMRC or other statutory authority 
relates to financial obligations arising on or 
before the Service Transfer Date; 
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2.3.5 a failure of the Supplier or any Subcontractor to discharge or 
procure the discharge of all wages, salaries and all other benefits 
and all PAYE tax deductions and national insurance contributions 
relating to the Transferring Supplier Employees in respect of the 
period up to (and including) the Service Transfer Date); 

2.3.6 any claim made by or in respect of any person employed or 
formerly employed by the Supplier or any Subcontractor other 
than a Transferring Supplier Employee identified in the Supplier’s 
Final Supplier Personnel List for whom it is alleged the Buyer 
and/or the Replacement Supplier and/or any Replacement 
Subcontractor may be liable by virtue of the relevant Contract 
and/or the Employment Regulations and/or the Acquired Rights 
Directive; and 

2.3.7 any claim made by or in respect of a Transferring Supplier 
Employee or any appropriate employee representative (as 
defined in the Employment Regulations) of any Transferring 
Supplier Employee relating to any act or omission of the Supplier 
or any Subcontractor in relation to its obligations under 
regulation 13 of the Employment Regulations, except to the 
extent that the liability arises from the failure by the Buyer and/or 
Replacement Supplier to comply with regulation 13(4) of the 
Employment Regulations. 

 

2.4 The indemnities in Paragraph 2.3 shall not apply to the extent that the 
Employee Liabilities arise or are attributable to an act or omission of the 
Replacement Supplier and/or any Replacement Subcontractor whether 
occurring or having its origin before, on or after the Service Transfer Date 
including any Employee Liabilities:  

2.4.1  arising out of the resignation of any Transferring Supplier 
Employee before the Service Transfer Date on account of 
substantial detrimental changes to his/her working conditions 
proposed by the Replacement Supplier and/or any Replacement 
Subcontractor to occur in the period on or after the Service 
Transfer Date); or 

2.4.2 arising from the Replacement Supplier’s failure, and/or 
Replacement Subcontractor’s failure, to comply with its 
obligations under the Employment Regulations. 

 

2.5 If any person who is not identified in the Supplier's Final Supplier Employee List 
claims, or it is determined in relation to any employees of the Supplier, that 
his/her contract of employment has been transferred from the Supplier to the 
Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Subcontractor pursuant to the 
Employment Regulations or the Acquired Rights Directive, then: 

2.5.1 the Buyer shall procure that the Replacement Supplier and/or 
Replacement Subcontractor will, within 5 Working Days of 
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becoming aware of that fact, notify the Buyer and the Supplier in 
writing; and  

2.5.2 the Supplier may offer (or may procure that a Subcontractor may 
offer) employment to such person, or take such other reasonable 
steps as it considered appropriate to deal the matter provided 
always that such steps are in compliance with Law, 
within15 Working Days of receipt of notice from the Replacement 
Supplier and/or Replacement Subcontractor.  

2.6 If such offer of is accepted, or if the situation has otherwise been resolved by 
the Supplier or a Subcontractor, Buyer shall procure that the Replacement 
Supplier shall, or procure that the and/or Replacement Subcontractor shall, 
immediately release or procure the release the person from his/her employment 
or alleged employment; 

2.7 If after the 15 Working Day period specified in Paragraph 2.5.2 has elapsed:  

2.7.1 no such offer has been made:  

2.7.2 such offer has been made but not accepted; or  

2.7.3 the situation has not otherwise been resolved 

the Buyer shall advise the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Subcontractor 
(as appropriate) that it may within 5 Working Days give notice to terminate 
the employment or alleged employment of such person; 

2.8 Subject to the Replacement Supplier's and/or Replacement Subcontractor 
acting in accordance with the provisions of Paragraphs 2.5 to 2.7 and in 
accordance with all applicable proper employment procedures set out in 
applicable Law and subject to Paragraph 2.9 below, the Supplier will indemnify 
the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Subcontractor against all 
Employee Liabilities arising out of the termination of the employment of any of 
the Supplier's  employees pursuant to the provisions of Paragraph 2.7 provided 
that the Replacement Supplier takes, or shall procure that the Replacement 
Subcontractor takes, all reasonable steps to minimise any such Employee 
Liabilities.  

2.9 The indemnity in Paragraph 2.8:  

2.9.1  shall not apply to: 

(a) any claim for:  

(i) discrimination, including on the grounds of 
sex, race, disability, age, gender 
reassignment, marriage or civil partnership, 
pregnancy and maternity or sexual 
orientation, religion or belief; or 

(ii) equal pay or compensation for less 
favourable treatment of part-time workers or 
fixed-term employees,  
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In any case in relation to any alleged act or omission of the 
Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement 
Subcontractor, or 

(b) any claim that the termination of employment was unfair 
because the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement 
Subcontractor neglected to follow a fair dismissal 
procedure; and  

2.9.2 shall apply only where the notification referred to in 
Paragraph 2.5.1 is made by the Replacement Supplier and/or 
Replacement Subcontractor to the Supplier within 6 months of 
the Service Transfer Date.. 

2.10 If any such person as is described in Paragraph 2.5 is neither re-employed by 
the Supplier or any Subcontractor nor dismissed by the Replacement Supplier 
and/or Replacement Subcontractor within the time scales set out in 
Paragraphs 2.5 to 2.7, such person shall be treated as a Transferring Supplier 
Employee. . 

2.11 The Supplier shall comply, and shall procure that each Subcontractor shall 
comply, with all its obligations under the Employment Regulations and shall 
perform and discharge, and shall procure that each Subcontractor shall perform 
and discharge, all its obligations in respect of any person identified in the 
Supplier’s Final Supplier Personnel List before and on the Service Transfer 
Date (including the payment of all remuneration, benefits, entitlements and 
outgoings, all wages, accrued but untaken holiday pay, bonuses, commissions, 
payments of PAYE, national insurance contributions and pension contributions 
and such sums due as a result of any Fair Deal Employees' participation in the 
Schemes and any requirement to set up a broadly comparable pension scheme 
which in any case are attributable in whole or in part in respect of the period up 
to (and including) the Service Transfer Date) and any necessary 
apportionments in respect of any periodic payments shall be made between:  

(b) the Supplier and/or any Subcontractor; and 

(c) the Replacement Supplier and/or the Replacement Subcontractor. 

 

2.12 The Supplier shall, and shall procure that each Subcontractor shall,  promptly 
provide the Buyer and any Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement 
Subcontractor, in writing such information as is necessary to enable the Buyer, 
the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Subcontractor to carry out their 
respective duties under regulation 13 of the Employment Regulations. The 
Buyer shall procure that the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement 
Subcontractor, shall promptly provide to the Supplier and each Subcontractor 
in writing such information as is necessary to enable the Supplier and each 
Subcontractor to carry out their respective duties under regulation 13 of the 
Employment Regulations. 

2.13 Subject to Paragraph 2.14, the Buyer shall procure that the Replacement 
Supplier indemnifies the Supplier on its own behalf and on behalf of any 
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Replacement Subcontractor and its Subcontractors against any Employee 
Liabilities arising from or as a result of:  

2.13.1  any act or omission of the Replacement Supplier and/or 
Replacement Subcontractor in respect of any Transferring 
Supplier Employee in the Supplier’s Final Supplier Personnel List 
or any appropriate employee representative (as defined in the 
Employment Regulations) of any such Transferring Supplier 
Employee;  

2.13.2 the breach or non-observance by the Replacement Supplier 
and/or Replacement Subcontractor on or after the Service 
Transfer Date of:  

(a) any collective agreement applicable to the 
Transferring Supplier Employees identified in the 
Supplier’s Final Supplier Personnel List; and/or  

(b) any custom or practice in respect of any 
Transferring Supplier Employees identified in the 
Supplier’s Final Supplier Personnel List which the 
Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement 
Subcontractor is contractually bound to honour; 

2.13.3 any claim by any trade union or other body or person 
representing any Transferring Supplier Employees identified in 
the Supplier’s Final Supplier Personnel List arising from or 
connected with any failure by the Replacement Supplier and/or 
Replacement Subcontractor to comply with any legal obligation 
to such trade union, body or person arising on or after the Service 
Transfer Date; 

2.13.4 any proposal by the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement 
Subcontractor to change the terms and conditions of employment 
or working conditions of any Transferring Supplier Employees 
identified in the Supplier’s Final Supplier Personnel List on or 
after their transfer to the Replacement Supplier or Replacement 
Subcontractor (as the case may be) on the Service Transfer 
Date, or to change the terms and conditions of employment or 
working conditions of any person identified in the Supplier’s Final 
Supplier Personnel List who would have been a Transferring 
Supplier Employee but for their resignation (or decision to treat 
their employment as terminated under regulation 4(9) of the 
Employment Regulations) before the Service Transfer Date as a 
result of or for a reason connected to such proposed changes;  

2.13.5 any statement communicated to or action undertaken by the 
Replacement Supplier or Replacement Subcontractor to, or in 
respect of, any Transferring Supplier Employee identified in the 
Supplier’s Final Supplier Personnel List on or before the Service 
Transfer Date regarding the Relevant Transfer which has not 
been agreed in advance with the Supplier in writing; 
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2.13.6 any proceeding, claim or demand by HMRC or other statutory 
authority in respect of any financial obligation including, but not 
limited to, PAYE and primary and secondary national insurance 
contributions: 

(a) in relation to any Transferring Supplier 
Employee identified in the Supplier’s Final 
Supplier Personnel List, to the extent that the 
proceeding, claim or demand by HMRC or other 
statutory authority relates to financial 
obligations arising after the Service Transfer 
Date; and 

(b) in relation to any employee who is not a 
Transferring Supplier Employee identified in the 
Supplier’s Final Supplier Personnel List, and in 
respect of whom it is later alleged or determined 
that the Employment Regulations applied so as 
to transfer his/her employment from the Supplier 
or Subcontractor, to the Replacement Supplier 
or Replacement Subcontractor to the extent that 
the proceeding, claim or demand by HMRC or 
other statutory authority relates to financial 
obligations arising after the Service Transfer 
Date; 

2.13.7 a failure of the Replacement Supplier or Replacement 
Subcontractor to discharge or procure the discharge of all wages, 
salaries and all other benefits and all PAYE tax deductions and 
national insurance contributions relating to the Transferring 
Supplier Employees identified in the Supplier’s Final Supplier 
Personnel List in respect of the period from (and including) the 
Service Transfer Date; and 

2.13.8 any claim made by or in respect of a Transferring Supplier 
Employee identified in the Supplier’s Final Supplier Personnel 
List or any appropriate employee representative (as defined in 
the Employment Regulations) of any such Transferring Supplier 
Employee relating to any act or omission of the Replacement 
Supplier or Replacement Subcontractor in relation to obligations 
under regulation 13 of the Employment Regulations. 

 

2.14 The indemnities in Paragraph 2.13 shall not apply to the extent that the Employee 
Liabilities arise or are attributable to an act or omission of the Supplier and/or any 
Subcontractor (as applicable) whether occurring or having its origin before, on or 
after the Service Transfer Date, including any Employee Liabilities arising from the 
failure by the Supplier and/or any Subcontractor (as applicable) to comply with its 
obligations under the Employment Regulations. 
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Call-Off Schedule 9 (Security) 

Part A: Short Form Security Requirements 

1. Definitions 

1.1 In this Schedule, the following words shall have the following meanings and they shall 
supplement Joint Schedule 1 (Definitions): 

"Breach of Security" 
the occurrence of: 

any unauthorised access to or use of the 
Deliverables, the Sites and/or any Information 
and Communication Technology ("ICT"), 
information or data (including the Confidential 
Information and the Government Data) used by 
the Buyer and/or the Supplier in connection with 
this Contract; and/or 

the loss and/or unauthorised disclosure of any 
information or data (including the Confidential 
Information and the Government Data), 
including any copies of such information or data, 
used by the Buyer and/or the Supplier in 
connection with this Contract, 

in either case as more particularly set out in the Security 
Policy where the Buyer has required compliance 
therewith in accordance with paragraph 2.2; 

"Security Management 
Plan"  the Supplier's security management plan prepared 

pursuant to this Schedule, a draft of which has been 
provided by the Supplier to the Buyer and as updated 
from time to time. 

2. Complying with security requirements and updates to them 

2.1 The Buyer and the Supplier recognise that, where specified in Framework Schedule 4 
(Framework Management), CCS shall have the right to enforce the Buyer's rights under 
this Schedule. 

2.2 The Supplier shall comply with the requirements in this Schedule in respect of the 
Security Management Plan. Where specified by a Buyer that has undertaken a Further 
Competition it shall also comply with the Security Policy  and shall ensure that the 
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Security Management Plan produced by the Supplier fully complies with the Security 
Policy.  

2.3 Where the Security Policy applies the Buyer shall notify the Supplier of any changes or 
proposed changes to the Security Policy. 

2.4 If the Supplier believes that a change or proposed change to the Security Policy will 
have a material and unavoidable cost implication to the provision of the Deliverables 
it may propose a Variation to the Buyer. In doing so, the Supplier must support its 
request by providing evidence of the cause of any increased costs and the steps that it 
has taken to mitigate those costs.  Any change to the Charges shall be subject to the 
Variation Procedure. 

2.5 Until and/or unless a change to the Charges is agreed by the Buyer pursuant to the 
Variation Procedure the Supplier shall continue to provide the Deliverables in 
accordance with its existing obligations. 

3. Security Standards 

3.1 The Supplier acknowledges that the Buyer places great emphasis on the reliability of 
the performance of the Deliverables, confidentiality, integrity and availability of 
information and consequently on security. 

3.2 The Supplier shall be responsible for the effective performance of its security 
obligations and shall at all times provide a level of security which: 

3.2.1 is in accordance with the Law and this Contract;  

3.2.2 as a minimum demonstrates Good Industry Practice; 

3.2.3 meets any specific security threats of immediate relevance to the 
Deliverables and/or the Government Data; and 

3.2.4 where specified by the Buyer in accordance with paragraph 2.2 complies 
with the Security Policy and the ICT Policy. 

3.3 The references to standards, guidance and policies contained or set out in 
Paragraph 3.2 shall be deemed to be references to such items as developed and 
updated and to any successor to or replacement for such standards, guidance and 
policies, as notified to the Supplier from time to time. 

3.4 In the event of any inconsistency in the provisions of the above standards, guidance 
and policies, the Supplier should notify the Buyer's Representative of such 
inconsistency immediately upon becoming aware of the same, and the Buyer's 
Representative shall, as soon as practicable, advise the Supplier which provision the 
Supplier shall be required to comply with. 

4. Security Management Plan 

4.1 Introduction 

4.1.1 The Supplier shall develop and maintain a Security Management Plan in 
accordance with this Schedule. The Supplier shall thereafter comply with its 
obligations set out in the Security Management Plan. 
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4.2 Content of the Security Management Plan 

4.2.1 The Security Management Plan shall: 

a) comply with the principles of security set out in Paragraph 3 and any 
other provisions of this Contract relevant to security; 

b) identify the necessary delegated organisational roles for those 
responsible for ensuring it is complied with by the Supplier; 

c) detail the process for managing any security risks from Subcontractors 
and third parties authorised by the Buyer with access to the 
Deliverables, processes associated with the provision of the 
Deliverables, the Buyer Premises, the Sites and any ICT, Information 
and data (including the Buyer’s Confidential Information and the 
Government Data) and any system that could directly or indirectly have 
an impact on that Information, data and/or the Deliverables; 

d) be developed to protect all aspects of the Deliverables and all processes 
associated with the provision of the Deliverables, including the Buyer 
Premises, the Sites, and any ICT, Information and data (including the 
Buyer’s Confidential Information and the Government Data) to the 
extent used by the Buyer or the Supplier in connection with this 
Contract or in connection with any system that could directly or 
indirectly have an impact on that Information, data and/or the 
Deliverables; 

e) set out the security measures to be implemented and maintained by the 
Supplier in relation to all aspects of the Deliverables and all processes 
associated with the provision of the Goods and/or Services and shall at 
all times comply with and specify security measures and procedures 
which are sufficient to ensure that the Deliverables comply with the 
provisions of this Contract; 

f) set out the plans for transitioning all security arrangements and 
responsibilities for the Supplier to meet the full obligations of the 
security requirements set out in this Contract and, where necessary in 
accordance with paragraph 2.2 the Security Policy; and 

g) be written in plain English in language which is readily comprehensible 
to the staff of the Supplier and the Buyer engaged in the provision of 
the Deliverables and shall only reference documents which are in the 
possession of the Parties or whose location is otherwise specified in 
this Schedule. 

4.3 Development of the Security Management Plan 

4.3.1 Within twenty (20) Working Days after the Start Date and in accordance with 
Paragraph 4.4, the Supplier shall prepare and deliver to the Buyer for 
Approval a fully complete and up to date Security Management Plan which 
will be based on the draft Security Management Plan.  

4.3.2 If the Security Management Plan submitted to the Buyer in accordance with 
Paragraph 4.3.1, or any subsequent revision to it in accordance with 
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Paragraph 4.4, is Approved it will be adopted immediately and will replace 
the previous version of the Security Management Plan and thereafter 
operated and maintained in accordance with this Schedule.  If the Security 
Management Plan is not Approved, the Supplier shall amend it within ten 
(10) Working Days of a notice of non-approval from the Buyer and re-submit 
to the Buyer for Approval.  The Parties will use all reasonable endeavours to 
ensure that the approval process takes as little time as possible and in any 
event no longer than fifteen (15) Working Days from the date of its first 
submission to the Buyer.  If the Buyer does not approve the Security 
Management Plan following its resubmission, the matter will be resolved in 
accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure.  

4.3.3 The Buyer shall not unreasonably withhold or delay its decision to Approve 
or not the Security Management Plan pursuant to Paragraph 4.3.2.  However 
a refusal by the Buyer to Approve the Security Management Plan on the 
grounds that it does not comply with the requirements set out in Paragraph 
4.2 shall be deemed to be reasonable. 

4.3.4 Approval by the Buyer of the Security Management Plan pursuant to 
Paragraph 4.3.2 or of any change to the Security Management Plan in 
accordance with Paragraph 4.4 shall not relieve the Supplier of its obligations 
under this Schedule.  

4.4 Amendment of the Security Management Plan 

4.4.1 The Security Management Plan shall be fully reviewed and updated by the 
Supplier at least annually to reflect: 

a) emerging changes in Good Industry Practice; 

b) any change or proposed change to the Deliverables and/or associated 
processes;  

c) where necessary in accordance with paragraph 2.2, any change to the 
Security Policy;  

d) any new perceived or changed security threats; and 

e) any reasonable change in requirements requested by the Buyer. 

4.4.2 The Supplier shall provide the Buyer with the results of such reviews as soon 
as reasonably practicable after their completion and amendment of the 
Security Management Plan at no additional cost to the Buyer. The results of 
the review shall include, without limitation: 

a) suggested improvements to the effectiveness of the Security 
Management Plan; 

b) updates to the risk assessments; and 

c) suggested improvements in measuring the effectiveness of controls. 

4.4.3 Subject to Paragraph 4.4.4, any change or amendment which the Supplier 
proposes to make to the Security Management Plan (as a result of a review 
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carried out in accordance with Paragraph 4.4.1, a request by the Buyer or 
otherwise) shall be subject to the Variation Procedure. 

4.4.4 The Buyer may, acting reasonably, Approve and require changes or 
amendments to the Security Management Plan to be implemented on 
timescales faster than set out in the Variation Procedure but, without 
prejudice to their effectiveness, all such changes and amendments shall 
thereafter be subject to the Variation Procedure for the purposes of 
formalising and documenting the relevant change or amendment. 

5. Security breach 

5.1 Either Party shall notify the other in accordance with the agreed security incident 
management process (as detailed in the Security Management Plan) upon becoming 
aware of any Breach of Security or any potential or attempted Breach of Security. 

5.2 Without prejudice to the security incident management process, upon becoming 
aware of any of the circumstances referred to in Paragraph 5.1, the Supplier shall: 

5.2.1 immediately take all reasonable steps (which shall include any action or changes 
reasonably required by the Buyer) necessary to: 

a) minimise the extent of actual or potential harm caused by any 
Breach of Security; 

b) remedy such Breach of Security to the extent possible and 
protect the integrity of the Buyer and the provision of the 
Goods and/or Services to the extent within its control against 
any such Breach of Security or attempted Breach of Security;  

c) prevent an equivalent breach in the future exploiting the same 
cause failure; and 

d) as soon as reasonably practicable provide to the Buyer, where 
the Buyer so requests, full details (using the reporting 
mechanism defined by the Security Management Plan) of the 
Breach of Security or attempted Breach of Security, including 
a cause analysis where required by the Buyer. 

5.3 In the event that any action is taken in response to a Breach of Security or potential or 
attempted Breach of Security that demonstrates non-compliance of the Security 
Management Plan with the Security Policy (where relevant in accordance with 
paragraph 2.2) or the requirements of this Schedule, then any required change to the 
Security Management Plan shall be at no cost to the Buyer.  
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Call-Off Schedule 8 (Business Continuity and Disaster 
Recovery) 

Definitions 

In this Schedule, the following words shall have the following meanings and they shall 
supplement Joint Schedule 1 (Definitions): 

“Annual Revenue” means, for the purposes of determining whether 
an entity is a Public Sector Dependent Supplier, 
the audited consolidated aggregate revenue 
(including share of revenue of joint ventures and 
Associates) reported by the Supplier or, as 
appropriate, the Supplier Group in its most 
recent published accounts, subject to the 
following methodology: 

figures for accounting periods of other than 12 
months should be scaled pro rata to produce a 
proforma figure for a 12 month period; and 

where the Supplier, the Supplier Group and/or 
their joint ventures and Associates report in a 
foreign currency, revenue should be converted to 
British Pound Sterling at the closing exchange 
rate on the Accounting Reference Date; 

“Appropriate Authority” or 
“Appropriate Authorities” 

means the Buyer and the Cabinet Office Markets 
and Suppliers Team or, where the Supplier is a 
Strategic Supplier, the Cabinet Office Markets 
and Suppliers Team; 

“Associates” means, in relation to an entity, an undertaking in 
which the entity owns, directly or indirectly, 
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights and 
exercises a degree of control sufficient for the 
undertaking to be treated as an associate under 
generally accepted accounting principles; 

"BCDR Plan" has the meaning given to it in Paragraph 2.2 of 
this Schedule; 

"Business Continuity Plan" 

 

has the meaning given to it in Paragraph 2.3.2 of 
this Schedule; 
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“Class 1 Transaction” has the meaning set out in the listing rules issued 
by the UK Listing Authority; 

“Control” the possession by a person, directly or indirectly, 
of the power to direct or cause the direction of 
the management and policies of the other person 
(whether through the ownership of voting 
shares, by contract or otherwise) and “Controls” 
and “Controlled” shall be interpreted 
accordingly; 

“Corporate Change Event” means: 
(a) any change of Control of the 

Supplier or a Parent 
Undertaking of the Supplier; 

(b) any change of Control of any 
member of the Supplier Group 
which, in the reasonable opinion 
of the Buyer, could have a 
material adverse effect on the 
Deliverables;  

(c) any change to the business of 
the Supplier or any member of 
the Supplier Group which, in the 
reasonable opinion of the Buyer, 
could have a material adverse 
effect on the Deliverables; 

(d) a Class 1 Transaction taking 
place in relation to the shares of 
the Supplier or any Parent 
Undertaking of the Supplier 
whose shares are listed on the 
main market of the London 
Stock Exchange plc; 

(e) an event that could reasonably 
be regarded as being equivalent 
to a Class 1 Transaction taking 
place in respect of the Supplier 
or any Parent Undertaking of the 
Supplier; 

(f) payment of dividends by the 
Supplier or the ultimate Parent 
Undertaking of the Supplier 
Group exceeding 25% of the Net 
Asset Value of the Supplier or 
the ultimate Parent Undertaking 
of the Supplier Group 
respectively in any 12 month 
period; 

(g) an order is made or an effective 
resolution is passed for the 
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winding up of any member of the 
Supplier Group;  

(h) any member of the Supplier 
Group stopping payment of its 
debts generally or becoming 
unable to pay its debts within the 
meaning of section 123(1) of the 
Insolvency Act 1986 or any 
member of the Supplier Group 
ceasing to carry on all or 
substantially all its business, or 
any compromise, composition, 
arrangement or agreement 
being made with creditors of any 
member of the Supplier Group; 

(i) the appointment of a receiver, 
administrative receiver or 
administrator in respect of or 
over all or a material part of the 
undertaking or assets of any 
member of the Supplier Group; 
and/or 

(j) any process or events with an 
effect analogous to those in 
paragraphs (e) to (g) inclusive 
above occurring to a member of 
the Supplier Group in a 
jurisdiction outside England and 
Wales; 

“Critical National 
Infrastructure” 

means those critical elements of UK national 
infrastructure (namely assets, facilities, systems, 
networks or processes and the essential workers 
that operate and facilitate them), the loss or 
compromise of which could result in: 

major detrimental impact on the availability, 
integrity or delivery of essential services – 
including those services whose integrity, if 
compromised, could result in significant loss of life 
or casualties – taking into account significant 
economic or social impacts; and/or 

significant impact on the national security, 
national defence, or the functioning of the UK; 

“Critical Service Contract” a service contract which the Buyer has 
categorised as a Gold Contract using the Cabinet 
Office Contract Tiering Tool or which the Buyer 
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otherwise considers should be classed as a 
Critical Service Contract; 

“CRP Information” means, together, the: 

Group Structure Information and Resolution 
Commentary; and 

UK Public Sector and CNI Contract Information; 

“Dependent Parent 
Undertaking” 

means any Parent Undertaking which provides 
any of its Subsidiary Undertakings and/or 
Associates, whether directly or indirectly, with 
any financial, trading, managerial or other 
assistance of whatever nature, without which the 
Supplier would be unable to continue the day to 
day conduct and operation of its business in the 
same manner as carried on at the time of 
entering into the Contract, including for the 
avoidance of doubt the provision of the 
Deliverables in accordance with the terms of the 
Contract; 

"Disaster" the occurrence of one or more events which, 
either separately or cumulatively, mean that the 
Deliverables, or a material part thereof will be 
unavailable (or could reasonably be anticipated 
to be unavailable); 

"Disaster Recovery 
Deliverables" 

the Deliverables embodied in the processes and 
procedures for restoring the provision of 
Deliverables following the occurrence of a 
Disaster; 

"Disaster Recovery Plan" has the meaning given to it in Paragraph 2.3.3 of 
this Schedule; 

"Disaster Recovery System" the system embodied in the processes and 
procedures for restoring the provision of 
Deliverables following the occurrence of a 
Disaster; 

“Group Structure Information 
and Resolution Commentary” 

means the information relating to the Supplier 
Group to be provided by the Supplier in 
accordance with Paragraphs 2 to 4 and Appendix 
1 to Part B; 

“Parent Undertaking” has the meaning set out in section 1162 of the 
Companies Act 2006; 

“Public Sector Dependent 
Supplier” 

means a supplier where that supplier, or that 
supplier’s group has Annual Revenue of £50 
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million or more of which over 50% is generated 
from UK Public Sector Business; 

"Related Supplier" any person who provides Deliverables to the 
Buyer which are related to the Deliverables from 
time to time; 

"Review Report" has the meaning given to it in Paragraph 6.3 of 
this Schedule; 

“Strategic Supplier” means those suppliers to government listed at 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/st
rategic-suppliers; 

Part A: BCDR Plan 

1. BCDR Plan 

1.1 The Buyer and the Supplier recognise that, where specified in Framework Schedule 4 
(Framework Management), CCS shall have the right to enforce the Buyer's rights 
under this Schedule. 

1.2 At least ninety (90) Working Days prior to the Start Date the Supplier shall prepare and 
deliver to the Buyer for the Buyer’s written approval a plan (a “BCDR Plan”), which 
shall detail the processes and arrangements that the Supplier shall follow to: 

1.2.1 ensure continuity of the business processes and operations supported by the 
Services following any failure or disruption of any element of the Deliverables; 
and 

1.2.2 the recovery of the Deliverables in the event of a Disaster  

1.3 The BCDR Plan shall be divided into four sections: 

1.3.1 Section 1 which shall set out general principles applicable to the BCDR Plan;  

1.3.2 Section 2 which shall relate to business continuity (the "Business Continuity 
Plan"); 

1.3.3 Section 3 which shall relate to disaster recovery (the "Disaster Recovery 
Plan"); and 

1.3.4 Section 4 which shall relate to an Insolvency Event of the Supplier, and Key-
Subcontractors and/or any Supplier Group member (the “Insolvency 
Continuity Plan”).  

1.4 Following receipt of the draft BCDR Plan from the Supplier, the Parties shall use 
reasonable endeavours to agree the contents of the BCDR Plan. If the Parties are 
unable to agree the contents of the BCDR Plan within twenty (20) Working Days of its 
submission, then such Dispute shall be resolved in accordance with the Dispute 
Resolution Procedure. 
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2. General Principles of the BCDR Plan (Section 1) 

2.1 Section 1 of the BCDR Plan shall: 

2.1.1 set out how the business continuity and disaster recovery elements of the 
BCDR Plan link to each other; 

2.1.2 provide details of how the invocation of any element of the BCDR Plan may 
impact upon the provision of the Deliverables and any goods and/or services 
provided to the Buyer by a Related Supplier; 

2.1.3 contain an obligation upon the Supplier to liaise with the Buyer and any 
Related Suppliers with respect to business continuity and disaster recovery; 

2.1.4 detail how the BCDR Plan interoperates with any overarching disaster recovery 
or business continuity plan of the Buyer and any of its other Related Supplier 
in each case as notified to the Supplier by the Buyer from time to time; 

2.1.5 contain a communication strategy including details of an incident and problem 
management service and advice and help desk facility which can be accessed 
via multiple channels; 

2.1.6 contain a risk analysis, including: 

(a) failure or disruption scenarios and assessments of likely frequency of 
occurrence; 

(b) identification of any single points of failure within the provision of Deliverables 
and processes for managing those risks; 

(c) identification of risks arising from the interaction of the provision of 
Deliverables with the goods and/or services provided by a Related Supplier; 
and 

(d) a business impact analysis of different anticipated failures or disruptions; 

2.1.7 provide for documentation of processes, including business processes, and 
procedures; 

2.1.8 set out key contact details for the Supplier (and any Subcontractors) and for 
the Buyer; 

2.1.9 identify the procedures for reverting to "normal service"; 

2.1.10 set out method(s) of recovering or updating data collected (or which ought to 
have been collected) during a failure or disruption to minimise data loss; 

2.1.11 identify the responsibilities (if any) that the Buyer has agreed it will assume in 
the event of the invocation of the BCDR Plan; 

2.1.12 provide for the provision of technical assistance to key contacts at the Buyer 
as required by the Buyer to inform decisions in support of the Buyer’s business 
continuity plans; 

2.1.13 set out how the business continuity and disaster recovery elements of the 
BCDR Plan link to the Insolvency Continuity Plan, and how the Insolvency 
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Continuity Plan links to the business continuity and disaster recovery elements 
of the BCDR Plan; 

2.1.14 contain an obligation upon the Supplier to liaise with the Buyer and (at the 
Buyer’s request) any Related Supplier with respect to issues concerning 
insolvency continuity where applicable; and 

2.1.15 detail how the BCDR Plan links and interoperates with any overarching and/or 
connected insolvency continuity plan of the Buyer and any of its other Related 
Suppliers in each case as notified to the Supplier by the Buyer from time to 
time. 

2.2 The BCDR Plan shall be designed so as to ensure that: 

2.2.1 the Deliverables are provided in accordance with this Contract at all times 
during and after the invocation of the BCDR Plan; 

2.2.2 the adverse impact of any Disaster is minimised as far as reasonably possible;  

2.2.3 it complies with the relevant provisions of ISO/IEC 27002; ISO22301/ISO22313 
and all other industry standards from time to time in force; and 

2.2.4 it details a process for the management of disaster recovery testing. 

2.3 The BCDR Plan shall be upgradeable and sufficiently flexible to support any changes 
to the Deliverables and the business operations supported by the provision of 
Deliverables. 

2.4 The Supplier shall not be entitled to any relief from its obligations under the 
Performance Indicators (PI’s) or Service levels, or to any increase in the Charges to the 
extent that a Disaster occurs as a consequence of any breach by the Supplier of this 
Contract. 

3. Business Continuity (Section 2) 

3.1 The Business Continuity Plan shall set out the arrangements that are to be invoked to 
ensure that the business processes facilitated by the provision of Deliverables remain 
supported and to ensure continuity of the business operations supported by the 
Services including: 

3.1.1 the alternative processes, options and responsibilities that may be adopted in 
the event of a failure in or disruption to the provision of Deliverables; and 

3.1.2 the steps to be taken by the Supplier upon resumption of the provision of 
Deliverables in order to address the effect of the failure or disruption. 

3.2 The Business Continuity Plan shall: 

3.2.1 address the various possible levels of failures of or disruptions to the provision 
of Deliverables; 

3.2.2 set out the goods and/or services to be provided and the steps to be taken to 
remedy the different levels of failures of and disruption to the Deliverables; 

3.2.3 specify any applicable Performance Indicators with respect to the provision of 
the Business Continuity Services and details of any agreed relaxation to the 
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Performance Indicators (PI’s) or Service Levels in respect of the provision of 
other Deliverables during any period of invocation of the Business Continuity 
Plan; and 

3.2.4 set out the circumstances in which the Business Continuity Plan is invoked. 

4. Disaster Recovery (Section 3) 

4.1 The Disaster Recovery Plan (which shall be invoked only upon the occurrence of a 
Disaster) shall be designed to ensure that upon the occurrence of a Disaster the 
Supplier ensures continuity of the business operations of the Buyer supported by the 
Services following any Disaster or during any period of service failure or disruption 
with, as far as reasonably possible, minimal adverse impact. 

4.2 The Supplier's BCDR Plan shall include an approach to business continuity and disaster 
recovery that addresses the following: 

4.2.1 loss of access to the Buyer Premises; 

4.2.2 loss of utilities to the Buyer Premises; 

4.2.3 loss of the Supplier's helpdesk or CAFM system; 

4.2.4 loss of a Subcontractor; 

4.2.5 emergency notification and escalation process; 

4.2.6 contact lists; 

4.2.7 staff training and awareness; 

4.2.8 BCDR Plan testing;  

4.2.9 post implementation review process;  

4.2.10 any applicable Performance Indicators (PI’s) with respect to the provision of 
the disaster recovery services and details of any agreed relaxation to the 
Performance Indicators (PI’s) or Service Levels in respect of the provision of 
other Deliverables during any period of invocation of the Disaster Recovery 
Plan; 

4.2.11 details of how the Supplier shall ensure compliance with security standards 
ensuring that compliance is maintained for any period during which the 
Disaster Recovery Plan is invoked; 

4.2.12 access controls to any disaster recovery sites used by the Supplier in relation 
to its obligations pursuant to this Schedule; and 

4.2.13 testing and management arrangements. 

5. Insolvency Continuity Plan (Section 4) 

5.1 The Insolvency Continuity Plan shall be designed by the Supplier to permit continuity 
of the business operations of the Buyer supported by the Deliverables through 
continued provision of the Deliverables following an Insolvency Event of the Supplier, 
any Key Sub-contractor and/or any Supplier Group member with, as far as reasonably 
possible, minimal adverse impact. 
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5.2 The Insolvency Continuity Plan shall include the following: 

5.2.1 communication strategies which are designed to minimise the potential 
disruption to the provision of the Deliverables, including key contact details in 
respect of the supply chain and key contact details for operational and contract 
Supplier Staff, Key Subcontractor personnel and Supplier Group member 
personnel; 

5.2.2 identification, explanation, assessment and an impact analysis of risks in 
respect of dependencies between the Supplier, Key Subcontractors and 
Supplier Group members where failure of those dependencies could 
reasonably have an adverse impact on the Deliverables; 

5.2.3 plans to manage and mitigate identified risks; 

5.2.4 details of the roles and responsibilities of the Supplier, Key Subcontractors 
and/or Supplier Group members to minimise and mitigate the effects of an 
Insolvency Event of such persons on the Deliverables; 

5.2.5 details of the recovery team to be put in place by the Supplier (which may 
include representatives of the Supplier, Key Subcontractors and Supplier 
Group members); and 

5.2.6 sufficient detail to enable an appointed insolvency practitioner to invoke the 
plan in the event of an Insolvency Event of the Supplier. 

6. Review and changing the BCDR Plan 

6.1 The Supplier shall review the BCDR Plan: 

6.1.1 on a regular basis and as a minimum once every six (6) Months; 

6.1.2 within three (3) calendar Months of the BCDR Plan (or any part) having been 
invoked pursuant to Paragraph 8; and 

6.1.3 where the Buyer requests in writing any additional reviews (over and above 
those provided for in Paragraphs 6.1.1 and 6.1.2 of this Schedule) whereupon 
the Supplier shall conduct such reviews in accordance with the Buyer’s written 
requirements. Prior to starting its review, the Supplier shall provide an 
accurate written estimate of the total costs payable by the Buyer for the 
Buyer’s approval.  The costs of both Parties of any such additional reviews shall 
be met by the Buyer except that the Supplier shall not be entitled to charge 
the Buyer for any costs that it may incur above any estimate without the 
Buyer’s prior written approval.  

6.2 Each review of the BCDR Plan pursuant to Paragraph 6.1 shall assess its suitability 
having regard to any change to the Deliverables or any underlying business processes 
and operations facilitated by or supported by the Services which have taken place 
since the later of the original approval of the BCDR Plan or the last review of the BCDR 
Plan, and shall also have regard to any occurrence of any event since that date (or the 
likelihood of any such event taking place in the foreseeable future) which may increase 
the likelihood of the need to invoke the BCDR Plan. The review shall be completed by 
the Supplier within such period as the Buyer shall reasonably require.   
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6.3 The Supplier shall, within twenty (20) Working Days of the conclusion of each such 
review of the BCDR Plan, provide to the Buyer a report (a "Review Report") setting 
out the Supplier's proposals (the "Supplier's Proposals") for addressing any changes 
in the risk profile and its proposals for amendments to the BCDR Plan. 

6.4 Following receipt of the Review Report and the Supplier’s Proposals, the Parties shall 
use reasonable endeavours to agree the Review Report and the Supplier's Proposals. 
If the Parties are unable to agree Review Report and the Supplier's Proposals within 
twenty (20) Working Days of its submission, then such Dispute shall be resolved in 
accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure.  

6.5 The Supplier shall as soon as is reasonably practicable after receiving the approval of 
the Supplier's Proposals effect any change in its practices or procedures necessary so 
as to give effect to the Supplier's Proposals. Any such change shall be at the Supplier’s 
expense unless it can be reasonably shown that the changes are required because of 
a material change to the risk profile of the Deliverables. 

7. Testing the BCDR Plan 

7.1 The Supplier shall test the BCDR Plan:  

7.1.1 regularly and in any event not less than once in every Contract Year; 

7.1.2 in the event of any major reconfiguration of the Deliverables 

7.1.3 at any time where the Buyer considers it necessary (acting in its sole 
discretion).   

7.2 If the Buyer requires an additional test of the BCDR Plan, it shall give the Supplier 
written notice and the Supplier shall conduct the test in accordance with the Buyer’s 
requirements and the relevant provisions of the BCDR Plan.  The Supplier's costs of 
the additional test shall be borne by the Buyer unless the BCDR Plan fails the additional 
test in which case the Supplier's costs of that failed test shall be borne by the Supplier. 

7.3 The Supplier shall undertake and manage testing of the BCDR Plan in full consultation 
with and under the supervision of the Buyer and shall liaise with the Buyer in respect 
of the planning, performance, and review, of each test, and shall comply with the 
reasonable requirements of the Buyer.  

7.4 The Supplier shall ensure that any use by it or any Subcontractor of "live" data in such 
testing is first approved with the Buyer. Copies of live test data used in any such testing 
shall be (if so required by the Buyer) destroyed or returned to the Buyer on completion 
of the test. 

7.5 The Supplier shall, within twenty (20) Working Days of the conclusion of each test, 
provide to the Buyer a report setting out: 

7.5.1 the outcome of the test; 

7.5.2 any failures in the BCDR Plan (including the BCDR Plan's procedures) revealed 
by the test; and 

7.5.3 the Supplier's proposals for remedying any such failures. 
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7.6 Following each test, the Supplier shall take all measures requested by the Buyer to 
remedy any failures in the BCDR Plan and such remedial activity and re-testing shall 
be completed by the Supplier, at its own cost, by the date reasonably required by the 
Buyer. 

8. Invoking the BCDR Plan 

8.1 In the event of a complete loss of service or in the event of a Disaster, the Supplier 
shall immediately invoke the BCDR Plan (and shall inform the Buyer promptly of such 
invocation). In all other instances the Supplier shall invoke or test the BCDR Plan only 
with the prior consent of the Buyer. 

8.2 The Insolvency Continuity Plan element of the BCDR Plan, including any linked 
elements in other parts of the BCDR Plan, shall be invoked by the Supplier: 

8.2.1 where an Insolvency Event of a Key Sub-contractor and/or Supplier Group 
member (other than the Supplier) could reasonably be expected to adversely 
affect delivery of the Deliverables; and/or 

8.2.2 where there is an Insolvency Event of the Supplier and the insolvency 
arrangements enable the Supplier to invoke the plan. 

9. Circumstances beyond your control 

9.1 The Supplier shall not be entitled to relief under Clause 20 (Circumstances beyond 
your control) if it would not have been impacted by the Force Majeure Event had it 
not failed to comply with its obligations under this Schedule.  

10. Amendments to this Schedule in respect of Bronze Contracts 

10.1 Where a Buyer’s Call-Off Contract is a Bronze Contract, if specified in the Order Form, 
the following provisions of this Call-Off Schedule 8, shall be disapplied in respect of 
that Contract: 

10.1.1 Paragraph 1.3.4 of Part A so that the BCDR plan shall only be required to be 
split into the three sections detailed in paragraphs 1.3.1 to 1.3.3 inclusive; 

10.1.2 Paragraphs 2.1.13 to 2.1.15 of Part A, inclusive; 

10.1.3 Paragraph 5 (Insolvency Continuity Plan) of Part A; 

10.1.4 Paragraph 8.2 of Part A; and 

10.1.5 The entirety of Part B of this Schedule. 

10.2 Where a Buyer’s Call-Off Contract is a Bronze Contract, if specified in the Order Form, 
the following definitions in Paragraph 1 of this Call-Off Schedule 8, shall be deemed to 
be deleted: 

10.2.1 Annual Review; 

10.2.2 Appropriate Authority or Appropriate Authorities; 

10.2.3 Associates; 

10.2.4 Class 1 Transaction; 
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10.2.5 Control; 

10.2.6 Corporate Change Event; 

10.2.7 Critical National Infrastructure; 

10.2.8 Critical Service Contract; 

10.2.9 CRP Information; 

10.2.10 Dependent Parent Undertaking; 

10.2.11 Group Structure Information and Resolution Commentary; 

10.2.12 Parent Undertaking; 

10.2.13 Public Sector Dependent Supplier; 

10.2.14 Subsidiary Undertaking; 

10.2.15 Supplier Group; 

10.2.16 UK Public Sector Business; and 

10.2.17 UK Public Sector/CNI Contract Information. 

 

  



Framework Schedule 6 (Order Form Template and Call-Off Schedules) 
Crown Copyright 2018 

Framework Ref: RM6290                                             
Project Version: v1.0   70 
Model Version: v3.9     

Part B:  Corporate Resolution Planning 

1. Service Status and Supplier Status 

1.1 This Contract is not a Critical Service Contract. 

1.2 The Supplier shall notify the Buyer in writing within 5 Working Days of the Effective 
Date and throughout the Call-Off Contract Period within 120 days after each 
Accounting Reference Date as to whether or not it is a Public Sector Dependent 
Supplier. 

2. Provision of Corporate Resolution Planning Information 

2.1 Paragraphs 2 to 4 of this Part B shall apply if the Contract has been specified as a 
Critical Service Contract under Paragraph 1.1 of this Part B or the Supplier is or 
becomes a Public Sector Dependent Supplier. 

2.2 Subject to Paragraphs 2.6, 2.10 and 2.11 of this Part B: 

2.2.1 where the Contract is a Critical Service Contract, the Supplier shall provide the 
Appropriate Authority or Appropriate Authorities with the CRP Information 
within 60 days of the Effective Date; and 

2.2.2 except where it has already been provided, where the Supplier is a Public 
Sector Dependent Supplier, it shall provide the Appropriate Authority or 
Appropriate Authorities with the CRP Information within 60 days of the date 
of the Appropriate Authority’s or Appropriate Authorities’ request. 

2.3 The Supplier shall ensure that the CRP Information provided pursuant to Paragraphs 
2.2, 2.8 and 2.9 of this Part B: 

2.3.1 is full, comprehensive, accurate and up to date; 

2.3.2 is split into two parts: 

(a) Group Structure Information and Resolution Commentary; 

(b) UK Public Service / CNI Contract Information and is structured and 
presented in accordance with the requirements and explanatory notes 
set out at Annex I of the latest published version of the Resolution 
Planning Guidance published by the Cabinet Office Government 
Commercial Function and available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-
outsourcingplaybook and contains the level of detail required (adapted 
as necessary to the Supplier’s circumstances); 

2.3.3 incorporates any additional commentary, supporting documents and evidence 
which would reasonably be required by the Appropriate Authority or 
Appropriate Authorities to understand and consider the information for 
approval; 

2.3.4 provides a clear description and explanation of the Supplier Group members 
that have agreements for goods, services or works provision in respect of UK 
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Public Sector Business and/or Critical National Infrastructure and the nature of 
those agreements; and 

2.3.5 complies with the requirements set out at Appendix 1 (Group Structure 
Information and Resolution Commentary) and Appendix 2 (UK Public Sector / 
CNI Contract Information) respectively. 

2.4 Following receipt by the Appropriate Authority or Appropriate Authorities of the CRP 
Information pursuant to Paragraphs 2.2, 2.8 and 2.9 of this Part B, the Buyer shall 
procure that the Appropriate Authority or Appropriate Authorities shall discuss in 
good faith the contents of the CRP Information with the Supplier and no later than 60 
days after the date on which the CRP Information was delivered by the Supplier either 
provide an Assurance to the Supplier that the Appropriate Authority or Appropriate 
Authorities approves the CRP Information or that the Appropriate Authority or 
Appropriate Authorities rejects the CRP Information. 

2.5 If the Appropriate Authority or Appropriate Authorities rejects the CRP Information: 

2.5.1 the Buyer shall (and shall procure that the Cabinet Office Markets and 
Suppliers Team shall) inform the Supplier in writing of its reasons for its 
rejection; and 

2.5.2 the Supplier shall revise the CRP Information, taking reasonable account of the 
Appropriate Authority’s or Appropriate Authorities’ comments, and shall re-
submit the CRP Information to the Appropriate Authority or Appropriate 
Authorities for approval within 30 days of the date of the Appropriate 
Authority’s or Appropriate Authorities’ rejection. The provisions of paragraph 
2.3 to 2.5 of this Part B shall apply again to any resubmitted CRP Information 
provided that either Party may refer any disputed matters for resolution by the 
Dispute Resolution Procedure under Clause 34 of the Core Terms at any time. 

2.6 Where the Supplier or a member of the Supplier Group has already provided CRP 
Information to a Department or the Cabinet Office Markets and Suppliers Team (or, in 
the case of a Strategic Supplier, solely to the Cabinet Office Markets and Suppliers 
Team) and has received an Assurance of its CRP Information from that Department 
and the Cabinet Office Markets and Suppliers Team (or, in the case of a Strategic 
Supplier, solely from the Cabinet Office Markets and Suppliers Team), then provided 
that the Assurance remains Valid (which has the meaning in paragraph 2.7 below) on 
the date by which the CRP Information would otherwise be required, the Supplier shall 
not be required to provide the CRP Information under Paragraph 2.2 if it provides a 
copy of the Valid Assurance to the Appropriate Authority or Appropriate Authorities 
on or before the date on which the CRP Information would otherwise have been 
required. 

2.7 An Assurance shall be deemed Valid for the purposes of Paragraph 2.6 of this Part B 
if: 

2.7.1 the Assurance is within the validity period stated in the Assurance (or, if no 
validity period is stated, no more than 12 months has elapsed since it was 
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issued and no more than 18 months has elapsed since the Accounting 
Reference Date on which the CRP Information was based); and 

2.7.2 no Corporate Change Events or Financial Distress Events (or events which 
would be deemed to be Corporate Change Events or Financial Distress Events 
if the Contract had then been in force) have occurred since the date of issue of 
the Assurance. 

2.8 If the Contract is a Critical Service Contract, the Supplier shall provide an updated 
version of the CRP Information (or, in the case of Paragraph 2.8.3 of this Part B its 
initial CRP Information) to the Appropriate Authority or Appropriate Authorities: 

2.8.1 within 14 days of the occurrence of a Financial Distress Event (along with any 
additional highly confidential information no longer exempted from disclosure 
under Paragraph 2.11 of this Part B) unless the Supplier is relieved of the 
consequences of the Financial Distress Event under Paragraph 7.1 of Joint 
Schedule 7 (Financial Distress) (if applicable); 

2.8.2 within 30 days of a Corporate Change Event unless not required pursuant to 
Paragraph 2.10; 

2.8.3 within 30 days of the date that: 

(a) the credit rating(s) of each of the Supplier and its Parent Undertakings 
fail to meet any of the criteria specified in Paragraph 2.10; or 

(b) none of the credit rating agencies specified at Paragraph 2.10 hold a 
public credit rating for the Supplier or any of its Parent Undertakings; 
and 

2.8.4 in any event, within 6 months after each Accounting Reference Date or within 
15 months of the date of the previous Assurance received from the 
Appropriate Authority (whichever is the earlier), unless: 

(a) updated CRP Information has been provided under any of Paragraphs 
2.8.1 2.8.2 or 2.8.3 since the most recent Accounting Reference Date 
(being no more than 12 months previously) within the timescales that 
would ordinarily be required for the provision of that information under 
this Paragraph 2.8.4; or 

(b) unless not required pursuant to Paragraph 2.10. 

2.9 Where the Supplier is a Public Sector Dependent Supplier and the Contract is not a 
Critical Service Contract, then on the occurrence of any of the events   specified in 
Paragraphs 2.8.1 to 2.8.4 of this Part B, the Supplier shall provide at the request of the 
Appropriate Authority or Appropriate Authorities and within the applicable timescales 
for each event as set out in Paragraph 2.8 (or such longer timescales as may be notified 
to the Supplier by the Buyer), the CRP Information to the Appropriate Authority or 
Appropriate Authorities. 

2.10 Where the Supplier or a Parent Undertaking of the Supplier has a credit rating of 
either: 
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2.10.1 Aa3 or better from Moody’s; 

2.10.2 AA- or better from Standard and Poors; 

2.10.3 AA- or better from Fitch; 

the Supplier will not be required to provide any CRP Information unless or until 
either (i) a Financial Distress Event occurs (unless the Supplier is relieved of the 
consequences of the Financial Distress Event under Paragraph 7.1 of Annex 3 to Joint 
Schedule 7 (Financial Distress), if applicable) or (ii) the Supplier and its Parent 
Undertakings cease to fulfil the criteria set out in this Paragraph 2.10, in which cases 
the Supplier shall provide the updated version of the CRP Information in accordance 
with paragraph 2.8. 

2.11 Subject to Paragraph 4, where the Supplier demonstrates to the reasonable 
satisfaction of the Appropriate Authority or Appropriate Authorities that a particular 
item of CRP Information is highly confidential, the Supplier may, having orally 
disclosed and discussed that information with the Appropriate Authority or 
Appropriate Authorities, redact or omit that information from the CRP Information 
provided that if a Financial Distress Event occurs, this exemption shall no longer apply 
and the Supplier shall promptly provide the relevant information to the Appropriate 
Authority or Appropriate Authorities to the extent required under Paragraph 2.8. 

3. Termination Rights 

3.1 The Buyer shall be entitled to terminate the Contract if the Supplier is required to 
provide CRP Information under Paragraph 2 of this Part B and either: 

3.1.1 the Supplier fails to provide the CRP Information within 4 months of the 
Effective Date if this is a Critical Service Contract or otherwise within 4 months 
of the Appropriate Authority’s or Appropriate Authorities’ request; or 

3.1.2 the Supplier fails to obtain an Assurance from the Appropriate Authority or 
Appropriate Authorities within 4 months of the date that it was first required 
to provide the CRP Information under the Contract, 

which shall be deemed to be an event to which Clause 10.4.1 of the Core Terms applies and 
Clauses 10.6.1 and 10.6.2 of the Core Terms shall apply accordingly. 

4. Confidentiality and usage of CRP Information 

4.1 The Buyer agrees to keep the CRP Information confidential and use it only to 
understand the implications of an Insolvency Event of the Supplier and/or Supplier 
Group members on its UK Public Sector Business and/or services in respect of CNI and 
to enable contingency planning to maintain service continuity for end users and 
protect CNI in such eventuality. 

4.2 Where the Appropriate Authority is the Cabinet Office Markets and Suppliers Team, 
at the Supplier’s request, the Buyer shall use reasonable endeavours to procure that 
the Cabinet Office enters into a confidentiality and usage agreement with the Supplier 
containing terms no less stringent than those placed on the Buyer under paragraph 
4.1 of this Part B and Clause 15 of the Core Terms. 
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4.3 The Supplier shall use reasonable endeavours to obtain consent from any third party 
which has restricted the disclosure of the CRP Information to enable disclosure of that 
information to the Appropriate Authority or Appropriate Authorities pursuant to 
Paragraph 2 of this Part B subject, where necessary, to the Appropriate Authority or 
Appropriate Authorities entering into an appropriate confidentiality agreement in the 
form required by the third party. 

4.4 Where the Supplier is unable to procure consent pursuant to Paragraph 4.3 of this Part 
B, the Supplier shall use all reasonable endeavours to disclose the CRP Information to 
the fullest extent possible by limiting the amount of information it withholds including 
by: 

4.4.1 redacting only those parts of the information which are subject to such 
obligations of confidentiality; 

4.4.2 providing the information in a form that does not breach its obligations of 
confidentiality including (where possible) by: 

(a) summarising the information; 

(b) grouping the information; 

(c) anonymising the information; and 

(d) presenting the information in general terms 

4.5 The Supplier shall provide the Appropriate Authority or Appropriate Authorities with 
contact details of any third party which has not provided consent to disclose CRP 
Information where that third party is also a public sector body and where the Supplier 
is legally permitted to do so. 
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Appendix 1: Group structure information and resolution 
commentary 

1. The Supplier shall: 

1.1 provide sufficient information to allow the Appropriate Authority to understand 
the implications on the Supplier Group’s UK Public Sector Business and CNI 
contracts listed pursuant to Appendix 2 if the Supplier or another member of the 
Supplier Group is subject to an Insolvency Event; 

1.2 ensure that the information is presented so as to provide a simple, effective and 
easily understood overview of the Supplier Group; and 

1.3 provide full details of the importance of each member of the Supplier Group to 
the Supplier Group’s UK Public Sector Business and CNI contracts listed pursuant 
to Appendix 2 and the dependencies between each. 
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Appendix 2: UK Public Sector / CNI Contract Information 

1. The Supplier shall: 

1.1 provide details of all agreements held by members of the Supplier Group where those 
agreements are for goods, services or works provision and: 

1.1.1 are with any UK public sector bodies including: central Government 
departments and their arms-length bodies and agencies, non-
departmental public bodies, NHS bodies, local authorities, health bodies, 
police fire and rescue, education bodies and the devolved administrations; 

1.1.2 are with any private sector entities where the end recipient of the service, 
goods or works provision is any of the bodies set out in paragraph 1.1.1 of 
this Appendix 2 and where the member of the Supplier Group is acting as 
a key sub-contractor under the agreement with the end recipient; or 

1.1.3 involve or could reasonably be considered to involve CNI; 

1.2 provide the Appropriate Authority with a copy of the latest version of each underlying 
contract worth more than £5m per contract year and their related key sub-contracts, 
which shall be included as embedded documents within the CRP Information or via a 
directly accessible link. 
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Call-Off Schedule 18 (Background Checks)  

When you should use this Schedule 

This Schedule should be used where Supplier Staff must be vetted before working on 
Contract.  

Definitions 

“Relevant Conviction” means any conviction listed in Annex 1 to this 
Schedule.  

Relevant Convictions 

The Supplier must ensure that no person who discloses that they have a 
Relevant Conviction, or a person who is found to have any 
Relevant Convictions (whether as a result of a police check or 
through the procedure of the Disclosure and Barring Service 
(DBS) or otherwise), is employed or engaged in any part of the 
provision of the Deliverables without Approval. 

Notwithstanding Paragraph 2.1.1 for each member of Supplier Staff who, 
in providing the Deliverables, has, will have or is likely to have 
access to children, vulnerable persons or other members of the 
public to whom the Buyer owes a special duty of care, the 
Supplier must (and shall procure that the relevant Sub-
Contractor must): 

carry out a check with the records held by the Department for 
Education (DfE); 

conduct thorough questioning regarding any Relevant 
Convictions; and 

ensure a police check is completed and such other checks as 
may be carried out through the Disclosure and Barring 
Service (DBS), 

and the Supplier shall not (and shall ensure that any Sub-
Contractor shall not) engage or continue to employ in the 
provision of the Deliverables any person who has a Relevant 
Conviction or an inappropriate record. 
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Annex 1 – Relevant Convictions 

 

Any criminal convictions except minor traffic offences. 

 

 


